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GLOSSARY
oA B

Unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms used under X E RSB AIEI TH AR ERE - TFEH
Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and 4 - B BN AR OT ESREE D EXE 4
Analysis, Biographical Details of Directors, Corporate Governance Report, 4% EZF@RER T FMEBEMB A=
Report of the Directors and Five-Year Financial Summary shall have the JEEBIA FNATEASERE

respective meanings set out below.

“2023 AGM”
TR CFRRBFARE]

2024 AGM”
TE_NFERRBAFAE]

“AGM(s)’
[REEFERE]

“Annual Report”
[ 3]

»

“Articles of Association

[MAEEREAR

“associate(s)”

Bt E A

“Audit Committee”

[BE%ZEe

“Board”
==

“CEQ” or “Chief Executive Officer”
[fTER AR

“CFQ” or “Chief Financial Officer”
(BEFEN%E]

“CG Code”
[ EIR<FAI]

“Chairman”

[EE ]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

AGM held on Friday, 20 October 2023
RZBEZ=F+AZF+HEHRDRTHRREFAE

AGM to be held on Friday, 18 October 2024
HRZE-NEF+A+TNABERR)RTHRFEFAE

annual general meeting(s) of the Company

ARBBRRBAFRE

annual report of the Company for the Year

RRARAFEFERSE

articles of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time
ARARZABERM@A(EARER  BHRBITELE)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB EmARAETERE

audit committee of the Board
EERERLEY

board of Directors

Exg

chief executive officer of the Company
KRB ZITHHEH

chief financial officer of the Company

ARRIZERMBE

corporate governance code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
AR BIMSRC P E 2 (¥ B R SR

chairman of the Board

ExgxF

the People’s Republic of China and, for the purpose of the Annual Report, excluding
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan
REARKAME  BAEHRME  TEEEE RABITHREREE
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“close associate(s)”

[EEBEAL]

“Company”

[ARAFE]

“Company Secretary” or
“Secretary”
[RRWE]WE]

“connected person(s)”

[EEAL]

“controlling shareholder(s)”
[ 12 A% AR 3R J

“Director(s)”

(%]

“EGM(s)”
ERFRIRE]

“ESG”
[R5 - e REB]

“Executive Director(s)” or “ED(s)”

[FITEE]

“Fan, Chan”
[BRR]

“Financial Statements

I8 75 i 5 |

“Group”
[REE]

“HKFRS(s)”

[E7E 7o & 2R

"HKS’
%72

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRMETHRE

Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited, an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the issued Shares of which
are listed and traded on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1470)
E-HEBEZERERAR —HRARASHSIMKX L2 EREERAR  HE
BITRONBRAER LT RR S (RHMRE : 1470)

company secretary of the Company
RRABZARMWE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LEWRAMETHRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB ETARRMETERE

director(s) of the Company

ARARER

extraordinary general meeting(s) of the Company
RRRIBRRERIRE

environmental, social and governance

R -HEkEn

executive Director(s)

MiTESE

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, the Independent Auditor
SR EATT AR A A - B R EAD

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year

REBAFE ZREMBRR

the Company and its subsidiaries

/NS S E N TN

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard(s) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants

ERGRMASRM 2B EMBRE LR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BREEEER

E-BBRERARAF s —S-=F /-"F_NFEEH 3



“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“Independent Auditor”

[ 98 32 1% 4AD |
“Independent Non-executive
Director(s)” or “INED(s)”
[BILIEATEE]

“Listing Rules”
[ B8 Al
“Model Code”

[ME% 7RI

“Nomination Committee”

fREZE=]

“Prosper One”

& —J

“Register of Members”

[RER 4 it

“Remuneration Committee”

[(FHZES

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[AR¥

“SFO”

%8 %5 R R &HI)

“Share(s)”
[t

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 5

“Stock Exchange”
B8 52 P

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
R EE B RITHRE

independent auditor of the Company
ZN/NGIb v 24T

independent non-executive Director(s)

BYFNITES

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
B2 PriE s Em AR R (ETEHERT - B ST LE)

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as contained
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FHRAIMSRCIFE FMBITAEFETESF X HNRESTA

nomination committee of the Board

ExgeiRE%8g

Prosper One Enterprises Limited, a controlling shareholder of the Company

E-RARAT ARTH—LERBE

register of members of the Company

NN i SR

remuneration committee of the Board

EFevME8e

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE  PBEEEEHS

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BERBEPESNEZSRAEGKRE (ETEEE] - ERHXSITEILE)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
RABRAF EBREECO1HB L2 EEKR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
L ENEST =N

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMERSMARRAT
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“subsidiary(ies)”

=N

“Year”

[RFEE]

“Year 2023”
[—E-=%F]

“op”
R AEAR=R =l

GLOSSARY (8oNTINUED) O |

a) S ()

>

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LR R TR0 HE RDRE

year ended 30 April 2024
BHE_Z_HNFMNA=THILFE

year ended 30 April 2023
HE_Z_="FNMA=1THIEFE

per cent. or percentage
=

E-BEBRERERAT s —S=-=F /-"FT-_NEFH 5



O CORPORATE INFORMATION
~E &

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Guoging (appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on

10 April 2024 )
Mr. Liu Jiagiang

Mr. Li Dongpo (appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 10 April 2024)

Mr. Meng Guangyin (former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

(resigned on 10 April 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan
Mr. Wang Luping
Mr. Gao Jizhong (appointed on 15 February 2024)

Mr. Lee Chun Keung (resigned on 16 November 2023)

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Luping
Mr. Gao Jizhong (appointed on 15 February 2024)

Mr. Lee Chun Keung (ceased on 16 November 2023)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Guoqing (appointed on 10 April 2024)
Mr. Wang Luping

Mr. Meng Guangyin (ceased on 10 April 2024)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Liu Guoqing (Chairman) (appointed on 10 April 2024)

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan
Mr. Gao Jizhong (appointed on 15 February 2024)

Mr. Lee Chun Keung (ceased on 16 November 2023)

Mr. Meng Guangyin (former Chairman) (ceased on 10 April 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (8oNTINUED) O |

NCIN-€=XC )

>

COMPANY SECRETARY YNECT R 7%=

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie BEReT
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES RERRX

Mr. Liu Guoging 215 B e A&

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie BERleT
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR B 3% EED

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited SBREETAITER AR
PRINCIPAL BANKERS FERXEREIT
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited FRERT(EBBRAR
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited ERBIT(EB)BR QA
Hang Seng Bank Limited BEAERITERAF

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited BB LBELRITARAT

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACEOF # I KEBFEBFTEE X B
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 4801, 48/F B

Hopewell Centre, No. 183 Queen’s Road East AT

Wanchai ERKXBRA8IFE FMAF L
Hong Kong 48124801 F

(Change of address with effect from 1 September 2023) (Mg H —E-=F A —HLE)
REGISTERED OFFICE A EE

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

E-EBRERERAR c —T=F “ZT-_NEFFR 7/



CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
A =& B ()

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
Room 21083B, 21/F

148 Electric Road

North Point

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.prosperoneintl.com

LISTING INFORMATION

Place of Listing:

Main Board of the Stock Exchange

Stock Code

1470

Board Lot

4,000 Shares
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT ©O

To Our Shareholders,
B R R

On behalf of the Board of Prosper One International Holdings Company
Limited, | hereby present the annual report of the Company for the Year.

AANERRERE - ERERERATEERREEAARKERES
F 3 o

LIU GUOQING ZIEEE
Chairman %= /&

E-ERERERAT  —E=-=F /“T-OFFH O



BUSINESS REVIEW

Although the number of inbound visitors to Hong Kong continued to rebound
during the Year, the performance of the retail trade was not as good as
expected due to changing consumption patterns of visitors. Besides, with the
resumption of travel between Hong Kong and Mainland, Hong Kong people
went north more frequently for consumption. The road to recovery for the
retail trade was fraught with difficulties and challenges. Given the sluggish
performance of the retail trade, the Group finally decided not to reopen watch
retail shops and withdrew from the watch retail business. The Group focused
on developing its wholesale business during the Year, but the performance of
the wholesale business was still poor.

As for the trading business, the major products sold by the Group include
urea and compound fertiliser and the application of urea can be broadly
divided into agricultural, industrial and vehicle uses. During the Year, due to
the decline in raw material prices and weakened support of production costs
of fertiliser, fertiliser prices also showed a downward trend and fluctuated with
low season and peak season. Meanwhile, affected by lower than expected
market demand and falling international urea prices, the overall domestic
fertiliser market was slightly weak. Nevertheless, with the unremitting efforts
of our sales team in expanding customer base and strengthening our
relationships with customers, the trading volume of the Group’s urea export
business increased significantly. During the Year, trading volume of urea and
compound fertiliser was 294,167 tonnes and 49,042 tonnes respectively,
representing a year-on-year growth of approximately 27.9% and 46.9%
respectively. As a result, the Group’s trading business continued to maintain
growth momentum.

During the Year, the Group catered to market demand and leveraged its
existing advantages to successfully expand its business to the manufacture
and sales of compound fertilisers. In September 2023, the Group entered into
a lease agreement with a related party to lease a production line of compound
fertiliser with an annual production capacity of 30,000 tonnes for an initial
lease term of two years commencing on 5 October 2023. The Group
produced a total of 14,734 tonnes of compound fertilisers and achieved a
sales volume of 14,036 tonnes during the Year. The new business was
conducted smoothly and recorded profits. By leasing a production line of
compound fertiliser, it not only increases profit margin, but also enables better
control over product quality, which brings growth opportunities to the Group.

Facing with the challenging business environment, the Group showed strong
adaptability and adopted a series of measures to control its operating cost to
make the Group turn around. As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded
a profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$1.3
million for the Year, as compared to a loss of approximately HK$2.7 million
for the Year 2023.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the Year, the Group recorded revenue from continuing operations of
approximately HK$71.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$36.3 million from approximately HK$35.6 million (restated) as compared
to Year 2023.

The profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$1.3
million for the Year, as compared to the loss of approximately HK$2.7 million
for the Year 2023.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, it is expected that domestic demand for fertilisers will maintain
growth, and the domestic fertiliser market will still have some support. As raw
material prices return to a reasonable range, fertiliser prices are expected to
show a relatively steady trend and fluctuate with slack and busy seasons. As
regards the manufacture and sales of compound fertilisers, the operating
performance of the new business has been in line with expectations. In view
of this, the Group purchased the production line in July 2024. By establishing
its own production line, the Group can not only save rental costs, but also
gain greater control to optimize production scale. The Group will continue to
strengthen production management, improve production capacity efficiency,
and make every effort to provide customers with more high-efficiency and
high-quality fertiliser products.

We will continue to unswervingly uphold the corporate development
philosophy, strengthen our relationships with customers, and actively expand
our business. The Group will also make good use of existing resources to
promote its growth strategy, thereby consolidating its brand position and
increasing market share. At the same time, the Group is actively considering
increasing production capacity by acquiring another production line.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EE®RE (&)

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to the Board members, management and employees for
their hard work and dedication that enable the Group to face the challenges
and uncertainties during the Year. Last but not least, | wish to express my
sincere thanks to our Shareholders, suppliers, customers and other business
partners for their ongoing trust and support.

Liu Guoqing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 July 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the Year was approximately HK$71.9 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$36.3 million or 102.0% from
approximately HK$35.6 million (restated) for the Year 2023. Revenue derived
from trading business increased by approximately HK$4.8 million or 14.0%
from approximately HK$34.3 million for the Year 2023 to approximately
HK$39.1 milion for the Year. Revenue derived from watch wholesale
business increased by approximately HK$0.6 million or 50.0% from
approximately HK$1.2 million for the Year 2023 to approximately HK$1.8
million for the Year. Revenue derived from manufacture and sales of
compound fertilisers was approximately HK$31.0 million for the Year. The
increase in revenue derived from trading business was mainly due to the
decent growth in the trading volume of urea and compound fertiliser.

Our cost of sales primarily consists of cost of inventories sold and provision
for slow-moving inventories. Our cost of sales increased by approximately
HK$29.5 million from approximately HK$0.9 million (restated) for the Year
2023 to approximately HK$30.4 million for the Year. The cost of sales of
compound fertilisers was approximately HK$28.8 million. During the Year, the
Group expanded its business to the manufacture and sales of compound
fertilisers, resulting in corresponding increase in the cost of sales of
compound fertilisers.

The overall gross profit increased by approximately HK$6.8 million or 19.6%
from approximately HK$34.7 million (restated) for the Year 2023 to
approximately HK$41.5 million for the Year. The increase in gross profit was
mainly due to (i) an increase of approximately HK$4.8 million in gross profit of
trading business and (i) an increase of approximately HK$2.2 million in gross
profit of manufacture and sales of compound fertilisers.

Our selling and distribution costs increased by approximately HK$9.8 million
or 86.7% from approximately HK$11.3 million (restated) for the Year 2023 to
approximately HK$21.1 milion for the Year. The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase of freight costs, travelling expenses and packing
expenses. The freight costs rose significantly because of significant growth in
trading volume of the export business.
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Our administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$2.5 million or
16.1% from approximately HK$15.5 million (restated) for the Year 2023 to
approximately HK$18.0 million for the Year. As a discontinued operation,
administrative expenses of approximately HK$5.4 million relating to the
Group’s watch retail business had been excluded from last year’s
comparative figure, of which administrative staff's salaries and allowances
accounted for approximately HK$4.2 million. For the Year, the salaries and
allowances of these administrative staff was included in the watch wholesale
business, resulting in an increase in administrative expenses.

Our finance costs increased by approximately HK$156,000 from
approximately HK$15,000 for the Year 2023 to approximately HK$171,000
for the Year. The increase was due to the increase in finance costs on lease
liabilities.

The profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company from continuing
operations was approximately HK$1.3 million (2023: approximately HK$3.2
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 59.4%. The
decrease was mainly due to the increase in freight costs of the Group’s
export business. In addition, despite the significant growth in trading volume
of the export business, the revenue growth from the export business was
lower than freight costs growth due to falling international fertiliser prices.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s primary source of funds were cash inflows from operating
activities and loans from the ultimate holding company.

As at 30 April 2024, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$65.8 million (as at 30 April 2023: approximately HK$126.2
million), most of which were denominated in HK$, United States dollars and
Renminbi. The current ratio (calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities) of the Group maintained at approximately 1.1 time as at 30 April
2024 and 30 April 2023. The gearing ratio (calculated by dividing net debt by
total equity) was not applicable as the Group maintained at a net cash
position as at 30 April 2024 and 30 April 2023. Net debt was calculated as
amount due to ultimate holding company and lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (GONTINUED) o

BEE W R @

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures by the Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 30 April 2024, the Group had a total of 62 (2023: 52) employees. The
total remuneration costs incurred by the Group for the Year were
approximately HK$18.7 million including continuing and discontinued
operations (2023: approximately HK$20.4 million). We review the performance
of our employees annually and use the results of such review in our annual
salary review and promotion appraisal, in order to attract and retain valuable
employees. Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market norms as well as individual qualifications, relevant experience and
performance.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to enable the Board to grant share options to eligible participants
with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company. As at the date
of the Annual Report, there was no outstanding share option granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 30 April 2024 and 30 April 2023.

As at 30 April 2024 and 30 April 2023, the Group did not have any foreign
exchange contracts, interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives.

As at 30 April 2024 and 30 April 2023, the Group had no banking facilities for
overdrafts and loans.

EARBEBROEHBE AR - B
ERAIREELRE

‘$¢F ARAREEEMERRBERLE
MEBLR BMERRRSELE-

BER &M BER

RZZE-_WFNA=+H AEEEFEH
B2H(ZTEZ=F 52R)EEB -RAFE ' &
SEEAFHRKARENIB7TEEBTL(BRE
REKERERIEEB)(ZE =4 : 4204
BEET) KAMEFEEEENERE LR
BEREEERENTTFETRT RE AT
% LRSI RBEEENEE - FMEEEE
2EMBGHRBEURBAERE HBEALH KK
BMEE -

ARFERME RS ((BREE]) u
FEESRMNCERSEERHBERE
WEAHERNARAHEEBEARKE- miﬁ
A SERBEREFSRLORTER
P4

BEREERT

RZZE_WNEFOMA=TAK-Z_=F1WA
=+tH ANEEWERITER

RIB-_NFOMA=+ER-_ZT_=51A
=TH AEBELTEEAIESLY FERHE
B At miTETA -

R-B_MFOMA=+BERER-_FT_=F1A

=tH AEETERBEIREREFEM
IRITHLE

E-EBRERERAF « —E==F /=%

—mEEH 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEWE D@

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Group does not have a significant foreign exchange exposure and has
currently not implemented any foreign currency hedging policy. The
management will consider hedging against significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arise.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at 30 April 2024 (as at 30 April 2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Company did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company other than its subsidiaries as at 30 April 2024 (as at 30 April 2023:
Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 April 2024, the Group had future capital commitments of
HK$541,000 but not recognised in the financial statements for the purchase
of property, plant and equipment (as at 30 April 2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 30 April
2024 (as at 30 April 2023: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Guoging (2IE &), aged 53, was appointed as our Executive
Director on 7 September 2017, as the Chief Financial Officer on 28
September 2017, as a Co-chief Executive Officer on 18 October 2017 and
was subsequently re-designated as an Executive Director and the Chief
Financial Officer on 1 April 2018. He has been re-designated as an Executive
Director, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman on 10 April 2024. He
obtained a Bachelor's degree in corporate management from Beijing
Business Management College* (b R EE B HMEEPT) in the PRC in July
2005. He joined Ruixing Group Company Limited* (s 2 £ E &/ AR A 7)) in
August 2003 with his current position as the manager of finance department
and as a deputy general manager since January 2016. He has ten years of
managerial experience in financial matters and nine years of managerial
experience in procurement and logistics operations in Ruixing Group
Company Limited*.

Mr. Liu Guoqing is the brother-in-law of Mr. Meng Guangyin, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Liu Jiagiang (8If03%), aged 51,
Director on 7 September 2017. He obtained a degree in finance from
Shandong Agricultural University* (LI 23 K& in January 2016. He has
over 25 years of working experience, and spent fourteen years thereof in a
managerial role. He has worked in Ruixing Group Company Limited* (f& 2 5%
B AR AR]) since December 1995 and has served as the general
manager in the investment department and the manager in the capital

was appointed as our Executive

operations department since November 2016. He is the deputy general
manager of certain subsidiaries of the Company in Shandong, the PRC.

Mr. Li Dongpo (Z=R ), aged 51, was appointed as our Executive Director
on 10 December 2021 and as the Chief Financial Officer on 10 April 2024. He
graduated from Party School of the Provincial Committee of Shandong in
China* (hEIHEZEILEE
economy management. He has over 25 years of working experience in sales
and manufacturing of fertiliser and biochemical products for agricultural
industry. He has worked in Ruixing Group Company Limited* (¥ 2 & B H
AR /A7]) since December 1995 and had served in various managerial roles

':l/\ﬁ-'-‘-

TE@ER) in December 2009 majoring in

in different major departments since 2007. He has been serving as the deputy
general manager, general secretary and legal director of Ruixing Group
Company Limited* since December 2020 and is responsible for management
of Ruixing Group Company Limited* (3 £ & B i% {5 B[R 2 7).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (H&3%&) (“Mr. Tian”), aged 53, was appointed as our
INED on 20 September 2017. Mr. Tian is also the chairman of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Tian has over 20 years of working experience in
the fields of accounting and audit.

Mr. Tian joined ShineWing Certified Public Accountants Jinan Branch* ({5:k
FRAE AT RN B RS PT(RIR R A ) B R 9 FT) in September 1994 and has been
the director of management consultancy department since July 2016, being
responsible for the business development and technical support of
consultancy service projects.

Mr. Tian obtained a diploma in financial accounting from Beijing Jiaotong
University (3677 323@AE) (now known as dbRAEAER) in July 1994. Mr,
Tian is a registered certified public accountant of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Wang Luping (£& ) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 55, was appointed as our
INED on 27 December 2018. Mr. Wang is also a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wang completed his legal
speciality studies at Beijing Jinggiao University* (b = RiEAE) in 1990 and
his undergraduate legal studies at China University of Political Science and
Law in 2005. He is a qualified lawyer in the PRC and has worked as a legal
professional for more than 25 years. He has been a director of Shandong

Faya Law Firm* (.l BE 7RIS 75 A7) since 2008.

Mr. Gao Jizhong (5% &) (“Mr. Gao”), aged 51, a former INED from
August 2018 to October 2018, was re-appointed as our INED on 15 February
2024. Mr. Gao is also a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. He completed his lawyering specialty studies in July
1996 and his undergraduate legal studies in January 2007 at the Shandong
Administrative Cadre Institute of Politics and Law* (LI SR BUAE 2 & E0E2 ) (now
known as Shandong University of Political Science and Law (11158 BUEZ6r))
in the PRC. Mr. Gao became qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in 1997 and
has been working at Shandong Wanlixing Law Firm* (111 58 & B {722 R S5 1)
since July 1998, where he became its founder when the business structure of
the said firm has changed from partnership to sole proprietorship in 2009.

*  The English transliterations of the Chinese names are for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT O

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating
elements of good corporate governance in the management structures,
internal control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures, internal control and risk
management procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability. The Company has adopted and adhered to the principles as
set out in the CG Code.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has adopted and complied with all
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the Year
and up to the date of the Annual Report save for code provisions C.5.1, C.2.1,
C.2.7 and F.2.2 of the CG Code as disclosed in the Annual Report.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
governing the securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific
enquiry made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures that
the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for the Group
to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the Board include but
are not limited to formulating the Group’s business plans and strategies,
deciding all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s
corporate governance practices and all other functions reserved to the Board
under the Articles of Association. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. The
responsibilities of these Board committees include monitoring the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensuring that appropriate internal
control and risk management are in place. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to the management of the Group if and when
considered appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the
execution of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board
and assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and the
management has an obligation to supply the Directors with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable the Directors to perform their
responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

The Company is committed to holding and implementing the view that the
Board should include a balanced composition of Executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgment.

As at 30 April 2024, the Board comprised six Directors, of which the INEDs in
aggregate represented more than one-third of the Board members. The
composition of the Board during the Year is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Guoging

Mr. Liu Jiagiang

Mr. Li Dongpo

Mr. Meng Guangyin (resigned on 10 April 2024)
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INEDS

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan

Mr. Wang Luping

Mr. Gao Jizhong (appointed on 15 February 2024)

Mr. Lee Chun Keung (resigned on 16 November 2023)

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors” of the Annual Report.

There was no financial, business, family or other material relationship among
the Directors.

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial expertise,
experience and independent judgement to the Board. Through active
participation in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees,
all INEDs will continue to make various contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Year (save for the disclosure in the section headed “Compliance
with Rules 3.10(1), 3.21 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules” below), the Company
had three INEDs, which was in compliance with the requirement of the Listing
Rules that the number of INEDs must represent at least one-third of the
Board members, and that at least one of the INEDs has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received a confirmation of independence in writing from
each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such
confirmation and not aware of the occurrence of any event that would impair
the independence of the INEDs, the Company considers that all the INEDs
are independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG code provides that the Chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the INEDs without the presence of other
directors. During the Year, both Mr. Meng Guangyin, the former Chairman,
and Mr. Liu Guoging, the successor of Mr. Meng Guangyin, did not hold
meeting with the INEDs without the presence of other Directors due to
business engagements. The INEDs have communicated and discussed with
Mr. Meng Guangyin and Mr. Liu Guoging directly from time to time to share
their view on the Company’s affairs. Therefore, the Company considers that
there were sufficient channels and communication for discussion of the
Company’s affairs between the Chairman and the INEDs.
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TRERBRE (&)

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 3.10(1), 3.21 AND
3.27A OF THE LISTING RULES

Immediately following the resignation of Mr. Lee Chun Keung as an INED on
16 November 2023, the Company had only two INEDs, hence failing to meet
the requirements of having (i) at least three INEDs on the Board under Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (i) the minimum number of non-executive
Directors for the formation of the Audit Committee under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules; and (i) a majority of INEDs for the nomination committee of the
Board under Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules. On 15 February 2024, the
Company appointed Mr. Gao Jizhong as an INED and fulfilled the aforesaid
requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Company provides each of the newly appointed Directors with a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.

Mr. Gao Jizhong (appointed on 15 February 2024) obtained legal advice on 7
February 2024, as required under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules from the
legal advisor of the Company and confirmed he understood his obligations as
a director of a listed company.
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Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should {xiE ¥ E)ATH 2 SFRIEXFCALIE BT
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh A EZEEELQHEBEELRE ERVEHH

their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The Company will from time to time
fund and arrange suitable training to all Directors to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors
are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with their
training records. According to the training records maintained by the
Company, the continuing professional development programmes received by
each of the Directors during the Year is summarised as follows:

Name of Directors
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Type of training

EERE 123138 Bl

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Liu Guoging 2B B A& AandBand C AKBRKC

Mr. Liu Jiagiang eI e Aand Band C ANMBEC

Mr. Li Dongpo TR A AandBand C AKBRKC

Mr. Meng Guangyin HEREAE AandBand C ANBRC
(resigned on 10 April 2024) (R=ZF=ZpEm A+ HEFHF)

INEDs BIAFHTES

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan BERLE AandBand C ANBRC

Mr. Wang Luping FBRFEE Aand Band C AKBKC

Mr. Gao Jizhong BERLE AandBand C ANBRC
(appointed on 15 February 2024) (R—_F-—_mWE—_A+AEEZE)

Mr. Lee Chun Keung ZTHER LA N/A TERA

(resigned on 16 November 2023)

(R-ZF—_=F1+— AT NHEHFHE)

A attending training sessions, including but not limited to, in-house/external  A: 29 212 A RER NI, Nt
seminars, briefings, conferences, forums and workshops = Re &% wmiEkI(ED

B: reading materials relating to the economy, general business, corporate  B: MEAEALE —MREK tXEAURES
governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities BEREEZME

C: reading newspapers and journals relating to the corporate governance matters, Cx HMEBEEHMCEYEAEE BERLMEHEL
environment and social issues or director’s duties and responsibilities EEHRENEF2RERET
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MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND THE
SHAREHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code provides the Board should meet
regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Notice of at least 14 days will be given to
the Directors in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice will be given in
a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include any matter
in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To
enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the
Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the
accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three days
before the intended date of the Board meeting, or such other period as
agreed. The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board
meetings’ minutes. Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to
the Directors for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

During the Year, two regular Board meetings and three other Board meetings
have been held and the Board has made resolutions by circulation of written
resolutions for all the Directors’ execution from time to time. In view of the
simplicity of the Group’s businesses, regular Board meetings have not been
held about quarterly during the Year. The Group’s audited consolidated
annual results for the Year 2023 and unaudited consolidated interim results
for the six months ended 31 October 2023 together with all corporate
transactions made during the Year have been reviewed and discussed
amongst the Directors at the Board meetings held in the Year. Together with
the circulation of written materials to keep the Board informed throughout the
Year, sufficient measures had been taken to ensure that there was efficient
communication among the Directors, including the INEDs. The attendance of
each Director at the Board meetings for the Year and the 2023 AGM is set
out below:

Name of Directors
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Board
Meeting(s) 2023 AGM
—E-=
ExeEgR BRRBFAE

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings Eligible to Attend

BHERE

BEEfNR CERHEEEBRRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Liu Guoging BRI E T A& 3/5 0/1
Mr. Liu Jiagiang 210 58 5t A4 5/5 11
Mr. Li Dongpo TR LA 5/5 11
Mr. Meng Guangyin HERLE

(resigned on 10 April 2024) (R=ZZF—mFP A+ HEFHE) 2/4 0/1

Annual Report 2023/2024



Name of Directors

Board
Meeting(s) 2023 AGM
—E=-=
EEgg BRREBFKE

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings Eligible to Attend

EHERE

EERE CEBEEERARE
INEDs BIYFHTES
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan BERLE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Wang Luping FEFELEE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Gao Jizhong BEARE

(appointed on 15 February 2024) (R=ZF-ZWE—A+HAEZF) 2/2 N/A i
Mr. Lee Chun Keung ZTHEA LA

(resigned on 16 November 2023) (R=ZZF=—=F+— A+ NHBEE) 11 11
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FTEEHFETHAE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of the chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. During the period from 1 May 2023 to 9 April 2024,
Mr. Meng Guangyin acted as the Chairman and the CEO. On 10 April 2024,
Mr. Liu Guoging was appointed as the Chairman and the CEQO in place of Mr.
Meng Guangyin. In view of the fact that Mr. Meng Guangyin and Mr. Liu
Guoging have been operating and managing the Company since 7
September 2017, the Board is of the opinion that it is appropriate and in the
best interests of the Group to have Mr. Meng Guangyin and Mr. Liu Guoging
taking up both roles for effective management and business development
during their respective tenure of office. Therefore, the Board considers that
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in
such circumstances. Nevertheless, the Company will look for suitable
candidates and will make necessary arrangement pursuant to the requirement
under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as and when necessary.
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DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (‘Board Diversity
Policy”) which recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business. All Board nominations, appointments and re-
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board members and the nomination policy of
the Company. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board will strive to maintain gender diversity when recruiting and
selecting the workforce across the Group’s operation. As at 30 April 2024, all
Board members are males. To achieve gender diversity on the Board level,
the Board will endeavor to appoint one female Board member no later than
31 December 2024.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy at least
annually to ensure its continued effectiveness, and where necessary, will
make revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

At the meeting held on 31 July 2024, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and was satisfied with its implementation
and effectiveness during the Year. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Nomination Committee”.

As at 30 April 2024, the gender ratio of male and female in the workforce of
the Group (including senior management) was 89% and 11% respectively.
For further details of gender ratio together with the relevant data, please refer
to the disclosure as set out in the separate ESG report of the Company. The
Group’s approach for talent recruitment and retention is to employ a diverse
team that works together and encourage differences and individuality in
employees with respect to equal opportunities and diversity. Notwithstanding
that, in view of efficiency enhancement, a measurable objective for achieving
gender diversity at the workforce level has not been set. The Group is
determined to commit to a diverse approach which provides equal
consideration and opportunities to all qualified candidates regardless of
gender in terms of hiring and promotion process.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF THE BOARD

In compliance with code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company has
established mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board (the “Mechanisms”). The Board currently comprises
three INEDs who have years of experience from different aspects, including
but not limited to accounting and finance, legal and business management.
The INEDs are able to provide independent and appropriate opinions to the
Board so as to ensure that the Board can obtain independent views and
opinions that it requires when exercising its powers and making major
decisions. The Company makes certain that the Board has access to
independent views and input through the Mechanisms listed below:

1. The Nomination Committee should review the Board composition,
independence, qualification and time commitment of the INEDs
annually, in particular the proportion of the INEDs and the
independence of the INEDs who have served for more than nine years,
where applicable.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company under Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules from each of the INEDs in relation to his/her
independence to the Company. The Company considers all its INEDs
to be independent.

8 In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid conflict of
interests, the Directors who are also directors and/or senior
management of the controlling shareholder and/or certain subsidiaries
of the controlling shareholder, would abstain from voting in the relevant
Board resolutions in relation to the transactions with the controlling
shareholders and/or its associates.

4. Al members of the Board are given an opportunity to include matters in
the agenda for Board meetings.

B All members of the Board can seek independent professional advice
when necessary to perform their responsibilities in accordance with the
Company’s policy.

The Board have also taken into account the respective contributions of the
INEDs to the Board and their firm commitments to their independent roles.
During the Year, all the INEDs do not hold any cross-directorships or have
any significant links with other Directors through involvement in other
companies or bodies that could give rise to conflicts of interest in their roles
as INEDs and they are not involved in the daily management of the Company
nor in any relationships or circumstances which would affect the exercise of
their independent judgment. They continue to demonstrate their ability to
provide an independent, balanced and objective view to the affairs of the
Company.
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The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Mechanisms annually. At the meeting held on 31 July 2024, the Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Mechanisms during the
Year and considered that the Mechanisms remain effective.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain Board committees, including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and upon
reasonable request, members of the Board committees are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses.

The Audit Committee was established on 21 April 2015 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and code
provision D.3 of the CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee were revised on 1 January 2019 to conform with the requirements
under the CG Code and the Listing Rules. Such written terms of reference are
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. It comprises all the three INEDs, namely Mr. Gao Jizhong , Mr.
Wang Luping and Mr. Tian Zhiyuan who is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but are not
limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving their
remuneration and terms of engagement, and handling any questions
regarding their resignation or dismissal;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards and discussing with the external auditors the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
commences;

° developing and implementing a policy on engaging external auditors to
supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where an action or
improvement is needed;
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monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts and half-year report, and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

oversighting the Company’s financial reporting system, and risk
management and internal control systems;

discussing the risk management and internal control systems with the
management to ensure that the management has performed its duty to
have such effective systems;

considering major investigation findings of internal control matters as
delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors, ensuring that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within
the Company, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness;

reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material queries

raised by the auditor to management about the accounting records,
financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues
raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

considering other topics as defined by the Board.

During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held and the Audit
Committee, amongst other matters, considered and approved (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year 2023; (i) the
unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the six months
ended 31 October 2023 for presentation to the Board for its consideration
and approval; and (jii) audit-related matters.
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The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee meetings during the
Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

EBUATESNAFELRERZZE
SRIIXNEBUT ¢

‘m]u
i3

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

R/

EERERE

EEpnR BRNRH

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman) AEELEE(EE) 2/2

Mr. Wang Luping FEFEAE 2/2
Mr. Gao Jizhong BEHALE

(appointed on 15 February 2024) (R=ZFZF=—A+HHEZF) N/ATiE A
Mr. Lee Chun Keung B KA

(ceased on 16 November 2023) (R—_FB-_=F+— A+ NHHE) 11

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules that at least A AT 2 &S FmBAFEI211E EL0H —

one of the members of the Audit Committee (which must comprise a % %Vﬁ Ee (2 )VEAFA=Z/KE  NERB

minimum of three members and must be chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director) is an Independent Non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The audited Financial Statements have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee at its meeting held on 31 July 2024. The Audit Committee is of
the opinion that such consolidated financial statements comply with the
applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules and that adequate
disclosures have been made. The chairman and the members of the Audit
Committee attended such meeting.

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21 April 2015 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were revised on 16 February 2023
to conform with the requirements under the CG Code and the Listing Rules.
Such written terms of reference are published on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
comprises two INEDs, namely Mr. Tian Zhiyuan, Mr. Wang Luping and an
Executive Director, Mr. Liu Guoging. Mr. Tian Zhiyuan is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include but
are not limited to:

o making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policy;

° reviewing and approving the management’s performance-based
remuneration by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and senior management. This should
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the
INEDs;

° considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in
the Group;

° reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the Executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of office
or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with the contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating to
the dismissal or removal of the Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with the contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

° ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration; and

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings, among
other things, (i) reviewed and recommended to the Board for consideration
and approval of certain remuneration-related matters of the Directors and
senior management; (i) reviewed the share option scheme of the Company;
and (i) considered and recommended to the Board for consideration and
approval of the remuneration package of the newly proposed INED.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at the
meetings of the Remuneration Committee during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

FHEZEERNAFERETTMAEH  NE
mL FHZEe(HPeB) (R LER
ZEER M EEERSREEBZETH
PAEREEE ¢ ()i s AR B BB AT &) K i)
FRTRNEFSROEZEZAHE R R EN
REBUFFATEFTZHMI= -

EFTMEZEENERAFELRFTMEZES
BRZREWT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

HERE

EEEERE
BEEng =P8
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman) AE&REE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Wang Luping TEREFLELE 2/2
Mr. Liu Guoging (appointed on 10 April 2024)  ZIBE &£ (R =E = pgFEm [+ HEZE) N/AT i F
Mr. Meng Guangyin (ceased on 10 April 2024)  #ER &L E (R = F Z—m+Frm A + 5 #H1(F) 1/2

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 April 2015 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. It comprises two INEDs,
namely Mr. Tian Zhiyuan and Mr. Gao Jizhong, and an Executive Director, Mr.
Liu Guoging. Mr. Liu Guoging is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include but
are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the

selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

° assessing the independence of the INEDs;
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° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the Directors,
in particular, the Chairman and the chief executive; and

° reviewing the policy on Board diversity and any measurable objectives
for implementing such policy as may be adopted by the Board from
time to time and to review the progress on achieving the objectives.

During the Year, two Nomination Committee meetings were held and the
Nomination Committee, among other things, (i) reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board; (i) assessed the independence of the INEDs; (iii)
recommended to the Board for consideration the re-appointment of the
retiring Directors at the 2023 AGM with adequate consideration of the Board
Diversity Policy; (iv) reviewed the measurable objectives (including the skKills,
knowledge and experience) for implementing the policy on Board diversity
and the progress on achieving the objectives; and (v) assessed the
qualifications and work experience of the newly proposed INED.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at its meetings
during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

HERE

EERERE
BEEps =P8
Mr. Liu Guoaing (Chairman) RRE L E ()

(appointed on 10 April 2024) (R=ZFZpFEMA+HEZF) N/ATE
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan TRk E 2/2
Mr. Gao Jizhong BEALE

(appointed on 15 February 2024) (R=ZF-ZWEFE—A+HAEZF) N/ATE A
Mr. Meng Guangyin (former Chairman) S BEREEGTEE)

(ceased on 10 April 2024) (R=ZZF=—pFEP A+ HHE) 1/2
Mr. Lee Chun Keung THEB LA

(ceased on 16 November 2023) (RZFZ=F+—HAFNHEHEF) 11
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of a Director including an INED in
accordance with the following procedures and process:

i The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the current
composition and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

ii The Nomination Committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as
referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations from a
third party agency firm and proposals from the Shareholders with due
consideration given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(@  Diversity in the aspects of, amongst others, gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

(b)  Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest (details of the Board Diversity
Policy set out above);

(c) Qualifications, both academic and professional, including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the business(es) of the Company and its subsidiaries is/are
involved;

(d)  Independence (for INEDs);

(e)  Reputation for integrity;

() Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the Board;
and

(@  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

iii The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as
interviews, background checks, presentations and third party reference

checks;

iv The Nomination Committee will consider a broad range of candidates
who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of contacts;

34 Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited © Annual Report 2023/2024

’REBBE

REZAEHRBETIEFRAERES (R
EBUANTER) ORE ZERERE
FREHEY

i REAZBEERNEEZREFEEAM
B 4B R B AR AR é éf‘ﬁ%@m—@ﬁﬁﬁ&
L BEMERBE UEDYETIIE:

i k%éﬁmﬂ%@i 138 & i R 8 AR
FBHERBBEE TR Fl0R
ﬁé%%ﬁ%‘ﬁi %—Eﬁ@“
WEBRBRRNER THEZE (B
BARN) TIEHEZE:

@ BHEMNSZHML HhaFER -
Fi XIERBEER HBEK
B2 - BBt AE MRS IR

(o) EEBMRESFEBREN TN D
E’JTF'EJ)SUHFW'J s(EEg%nlk
BRZEHFBHR L)

) EBMEEXER BEIEAAQF
MEWNBARXEMMEBITEYN
FRCBE AR B

o BILIEGRBIEMITEETmMS)

BE

m}?ﬁ

©
2

o

i f

 FEATRAREEFEERNELER
Bt R

@ REEZFSEFETHMHENTSE -
i REEEE® EH%FHE?&%LEWTH?

Fraf xR B AN S@EE  flmmst - 5
RHE ERBRFE=ZNERRE:

v REZEEHEECEEFTSHEEAIN
& BIREA



vi

vii

Viii

Promptly after considering a candidate’s suitability for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information of the
selected candidate to the Remuneration Committee for consideration
of the remuneration package of such selected candidate;

The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation
to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment, and where a
non-executive Director is considered, the Remuneration Committee will
make the recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by
the members of the Board, who are not members of the Nomination
Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as Director, as the case may be) to be filed with the
relevant regulatory authorities, if required.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which include but
are not limited to:

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Group;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the directors of
the Group; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this report.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

To outline the Group’s expectations and requirements on prevention,
detection, reporting and investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption and
other similar irregularities; and to provide information and guidance on
recognizing and dealing with bribery and corruption, the Group has
established its anti-corruption policy that complies with code provision D.2.7
of the CG Code.

With the commitment to ethical operations, the Group adheres to the principle
of integrity and has zero tolerance towards corruption or other unethical
behaviours. In order to completely eliminate illegal activities such as bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, the Group has established a code of
conduct in its Staff Handbook. The Group requires all employees to abide by
the code of conduct to ensure that they consistently uphold the highest
standards of professional ethics. For details, please refer to the disclosure in
the separate ESG report of the Company.

The anti-corruption policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards of openness,
probity and accountability, the Group has established a whistleblowing policy
which forms an important part of its effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The whistleblowing policy provides the necessary mechanisms for all
stakeholders, including employees, Shareholders, customers and suppliers,
to report any suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Group in
confidence through our whistleblowing channels. Complaints are handled by
designated staff and findings are reported to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee will ensure that appropriate action is taken on the findings.

The whistleblowing policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year and each of the INEDs has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year. The extension of the
terms or the renewal of any such service agreements or letters of
appointment, where necessary, will be in compliance with the Listing Rules
and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or
as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the first AGM after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation and
will be eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association. At
each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation
shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire
by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and does not offer himself for
re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those who have been
the longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as
between the persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees
of the Group for the Year are set out in Notes 13 and 14 to the Financial
Statements, respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities
and opinion on the Financial Statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of the Annual Report.

For the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Independent Auditor in
respect of the Year is set out below:

o CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Services Fee paid/payable

PR o ENER

HK$’000

FAET

Audit services EZRE 900
Non-audit services EEZ RS

— Auditor’s letter on continuing connected —BERBERER S NZEE G
transactions 50
Total FE 950

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
Financial Statements.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Audit Committee reviews the adequacy of the Group’s internal financial
controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies
and systems established by the management of the Company, including
those related to the issues as set out in the ESG report that are significant to
the operation of the Company and/or substantially affecting the Shareholders
and other key stakeholders, to ensure compliance with the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide and the Listing Rules
(collectively “internal controls”).
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

For the Year, the Board has conducted a review and assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management. Such review has been made by discussion with the Audit
Committee, management and the Independent Auditor, if applicable, from
time to time, but at least once a year. The Board will put in place to address
the identified area that will be enhanced. The Board considers that the
existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate and
effective.

The Company also has an internal audit function to carry out the analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems, and
has procedures in place to keep information confidential and manage actual
or potential conflicts of interest. Stringent internal structures have been
designed to prevent the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of
interest.

The Audit Committee has received the summarized information on the risk
management and internal controls conducted by the internal audit team. The
work carried in relation to the identified areas are summarized as follows:

(i) the results of selective testing of internal control procedures, assets,
and financial records of the Company;

(ii) a general evaluation of risk management and internal control systems
installed by the Company; and

(iiy ~ an outline of major control issues, if any, noticed during the Year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the summarized information and
discussed with the management.

The Board is responsible for the overall internal control framework and is fully
aware of the need to put in place a system of internal controls within the
Group to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group’s assets,
and to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems in place
are adequate.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing
Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced promptly. The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure
by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to the
public through channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and the Company’s website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for responding
to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that only the
Executive Directors, the Company Secretary and the financial controller
of the Company are authorised to communicate with parties outside
the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring that reliable and
relevant flow of information is maintained amongst members of the Board and
that all procedures have been adhered to in accordance with applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie (“Ms. Tung”) was nominated by Boardroom
Corporate Services (HK) Limited to be the Company Secretary on 30 June
2022. The primary person at the Company with whom Ms. Tung contacted in
respect of the company secretarial matters was Ms. Mancy Wai, the financial
manager of the Company.

Ms. Tung attended over 15 hours’ relevant continuous professional
development training during the Year pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its Shareholders and investment public.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its announcements, circulars as well as
annual and interim reports. The corporate website of the Company has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

During the Year, the Company has not made any change to its constitutional
documents. A consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional
documents is available on the Company’s website and the website of the
Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION

The Company has adopted a Shareholder’'s communication policy with an
objective to provide the Shareholders with detailed information about the
Company so that they can exercise their rights as Shareholders in an
informed manner and allow them to engage actively with the Company. The
Company would review the Shareholders’ communication policy on a regular
basis.
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The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These
include AGM, EGM, annual report, various notices, announcements and
circulars. Procedure for demanding a poll wil be included in circulars
accompanying the notice convening a general meeting and such procedure
will be read out by the chairman of the general meeting or his delegate. The
AGMs and other general meetings of the Company are primary forum for
communication between the Company and its Shareholders. The members
of the Board, Board committees and the Independent Auditor are present to
answer Shareholders’ questions at the AGMs. The Company will provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a
general meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable the
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). As
a channel to promote effective communication, the Group maintains a
website where the Company’s announcements, financial information and
other information are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to
the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with any
inquiries.

Pursuant to code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code, the Company will invite/has
invited representatives of the Independent Auditor to attend the 2024 AGM
and the chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee to attend the forthcoming 2024
AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions regarding the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the Independent Auditor’'s report, the
accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

Mr. Meng Guangyin, the former Chairman, did not attend the Company’s
2023 AGM due to other essential business engagements. In order to ensure
an effective communication with the Shareholders, the Directors attending the
2023 AGM elected Mr. Liu Jiagiang, an Executive Director, to chair the
meeting on behalf of the Chairman. The respective chairmen and/or members
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee and a representative of the Independent Auditor were present at
the 2023 AGM to answer relevant questions from the Shareholders. To
mitigate the above, future AGMs will be scheduled earlier to avoid the
timetable clashes.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s Shareholders communication
activities conducted during the Year and is satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the Articles of Association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to make proposals or
move a resolution may, however, convene an EGM in accordance with the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM” set out below.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EGM

Written requisition of any one or more members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights at general
meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis, in the paid share
capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any), shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition and the foregoing members shall be
able to add resolutions to the meeting agenda; and such meeting shall be
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a
physical meeting at only one location which will be the principal meeting
place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board or the Company by
post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which sets out the basic
principles in determining the distribution of the dividends to the Shareholders
(the “Dividend Policy”).
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The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

(i) the financial results and financial condition of the Group;

(i) the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group; and

(v)  the general economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Law of the Cayman lIslands, the Articles of Association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and reserve the right at its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend, and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as
it deems fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount for any specific period.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is
to ensure that information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and
complete, thereby enabling the Shareholders, investors as well as the public
to make rational and informed decisions.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance could ensure an
effective distribution of the resources and protection of Shareholders’
interests. The senior management will continue to use its reasonable
endeavours in maintaining, enhancing and increasing the Group’s corporate
governance level and quality.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS O

The Directors present to the Shareholders their report for the Year and the
Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and acting as
agent in the sales and trading of fertilisers and other related products. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the retail and wholesale of watches
in Hong Kong; (i) acting as agent in the sales and trading of fertilisers and
other related products and (i) manufacture and sales of compound fertilisers.
As set out in Note 12 to the Financial Statements, the Group’s watch retalil
business has been reclassified as discontinued operation during the Year.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating segment is
set out in Note 6 to the Financial Statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 148 of the Annual Report. The
summary does not form part of the Financial Statements.

FAIR REVIEW OF BUSINESS

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the Year and the likely future development in the
Group’s business are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” sections of the Annual Report. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the “Five-Year Financial Summary” of the
Annual Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are various risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, which may
materially adversely affect its business, financial conditions or results of
operations. As some of the projects are located in the PRC, the political,
economic and legal developments and changes to government policies in the
PRC may have a significant impact on the Group.

The financial risks of the Group included currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. These financial risks are elaborated in Note 30b to the Financial
Statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has in place compliance and risk management policies and
procedures, and members of the senior management are delegated with the
continuing obligation to monitor adherence to and compliance with all
significant legal and regulatory requirements by the Group. As far as the
Company is aware, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the places where it operates in all material respects during the
Year and up to the date of the Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers, suppliers, Shareholders
and other stakeholders. During the Year, there was no material or significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other
stakeholders.

Employees

The Group recognises that employees are the valuable assets for the Group’s
continuous development. The Group provides competitive remuneration
package by reference to market norms as well as individual qualifications,
relevant experience and performance to attract and retain valuable
employees.

Customers

The Group is committed to providing good quality service to its customers
and enhance the loyalty of customers by increasing the interaction with
customers through email, telephone or direct communication, which provide
a good foundation to our Group’s overall performance in the long run.

46 Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited © Annual Report 2023/2024

TERBRRAEEN

AEEHESBERRETHEEN  JEYHE
X BEMRAREBEXREERNEATNE
B -ANIHIEE HURPE - FEBUS - &
EREZBERARBNBKEGHAUREHARE
BEXREATE -

AEEZYHRABRBEEERAKR  EERAR
ErnsEcRk 2SEWERRBRNY K HRE
B 3E30b R FA ©

BFERRER

AEBEEREAHALAREERERER
MeEReEREXECEERBEEREAEE
BRI ETHBEERNZLZRREERELZR
T BARBMAM RAFEAREEARAFH
ZBH AEBEERMBEERTEETZE
FrEHE 2 — YRR BDE DI KOER -

HXBMEHEATZBE

AREREERRVERES BF  HE
7 MRS BRI ABEIA LR A o T34
BIALZ S8 - KA A B L
WP R/REMFEARAL LRSS
ERFH-

B&

AEBRAREDASERBERNEES
E-AKBEZ2EZEMSHREBURBARE  HEH
RERRAREABRFINHFHNGE AR
SINEEEEMNESR -

EF
AEERNREFPREEERS  WEBR
R ERXERERANRETFEHNM
RAEFPEHE RAKBEREERBRIRE
TREFER-



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) o

Suppliers

The Group has maintained good relationships with its suppliers. The Group
cooperates with suppliers that are committed to quality of products.

Shareholders and other stakeholders

The Group has made an ongoing dialogue with its investors and Shareholders
as provided in the “Investor Relations” and “Shareholders’” Communication”
paragraphs of the Corporate Governance Report of the Annual Report.

ESG

The Group continually reviews its ESG efforts, corporate governance and risk
management practices with the aim of creating and delivering sustainable
value to all key stakeholders. The Group has been exploring more efficient
opportunities to reduce the consumption of resources in order to reduce its
impact on the environment.

A separate ESG report will be published on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company at the same time as the publication of the
Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 69 and
70 of the Annual Report. The Board does not recommend the payment of
any final dividend for the Year (2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are
set out in Note 25 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 73 and 74 of the Annual Report and Note 34 to the Financial
Statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 April 2024, the Company had no distributable reserves (2023: Nil).
Details of the movements in the distributable reserves during the Year are set
out in Note 34 to the Financial Statements.

AGM

A notice convening the 2024 AGM will be issued and dispatched to the
Shareholders in due course in the manner required by the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the
2024 AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday, 15
October 2024 to Friday, 18 October 2024 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the 2024 AGM, the non-registered Shareholders must lodge all
duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Boardroom Share
Registrars (HK) Limited, at Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 14
October 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 16 to the Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (GONTINUED) o

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 92.3% of the total purchases and purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 71.2% of the total purchases.

For the Year, the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 33.4% of the total sales and sales to the largest customer
accounted for approximately 16.2% of the total sales.

The largest supplier is significantly influenced by Mr. Meng Guangyin, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, and the third largest supplier
is @ company owned as to 51% by Mr. Meng Xiao who is a cousin of Mr.
Meng Guangyin.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the number of the Company’s issued Shares) had any interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
Annual Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Guoaging
(appointed as Chairman on 10 April 2024)
Mr. Liu Jiagiang
Mr. Li Dongpo
Mr. Meng Guangyin (former Chairman)
(resigned on 10 April 2024)

Independence Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan
Mr. Wang Luping
Mr. Gao Jizhong
(appointed on 15 February 2024)
Mr. Lee Chun Keung
(resigned on 16 November 2023)
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Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
Board shall hold office only until the first AGM after his appointment and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors will retire by rotation at each AGM. In addition, code provision B.2.2
of the CG Code stipulates that each Director shall retire from office by rotation
at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire
by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of
Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to
offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of
the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as
between persons who became or were last re-elected or appointed Directors
on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the Board
pursuant to article 83(3) shall not be taken into account in determining which
particular Director or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
Accordingly, Mr. Gao Jizhong, Mr. Wang Luping and Mr. Liu Jiagiang will
retire from office as Directors by rotation and are eligible to offer themselves
for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual written
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and is not aware of any event undermining their independence. As such, the
Company notes that all the INEDs are independent.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors, secretary, Independent
Auditor and other officers shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or any of them may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company had arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of any
potential legal action against the Directors and senior management in respect
of potential legal actions that may be incurred in the course of performing
their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 17 and 18 of
the Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Liu Guoging and Mr. Liu Jiagiang have renewed their service agreements
with the Company for a term of one year commencing on 7 September 2023.
Mr. Li Dongpo has renewed his service agreement with the Company for a
term of one year commencing on 10 December 2023. Their service
agreements may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

All the INEDs were appointed for a specific term of one year, but subject to
the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other applicable
laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office.

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan and Mr. Wang Luping have renewed letters of appointment
with the Company for a term of one year commencing on 20 September
20283 and 27 December 2023 respectively. Mr. Gao Jizhong has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing on 15 February 2024. Their appointment letters may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party on the other.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2024 AGM has an
unexpired service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group for the Year are set out in Notes 13 and 14 to the Financial
Statements, respectively. The remuneration packages of the Directors are
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board
as described on page 31 of the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the Year are set
out in Note 32 to the Financial Statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the Year or as at the end of the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTEREST

Save as disclosed in the Annual Report, no contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any contracts of any significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at any time
during the Year or as at the end of the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 30 April 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or (c) pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 30 April 2024, the following
entity (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:
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Notes:

1. The 600,000,000 Shares were held under certain trust units under the
Changjiang Absolute Return China Fund, in which Mr. Meng was beneficially
interested via his wholly-owned company Prosper One, and managed by
Changjiang Asset Management (HK) Ltd, Mr. Meng’s asset and fund manager.
Mr. Meng is the sole shareholder and sole director of Prosper One and is
deemed to be interested in the 600,000,000 Shares in which Prosper One is
interested under the SFO.

2. The percentage of shareholding interest in the Company shown in the table
above is calculated on the basis of 800,000,000 Shares in issue as at 30 April
2024.

3. All interests stated above represent long positions

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2024, so far as the Directors or chief
executive of the Company are aware, no other persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) or entities had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the Year and up to the date of the Annual Report, the Directors are not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the management of the
Company and their respective close associates that compete or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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REPORT(H?THEIHRECTORS(CONHNUED)()l

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of
business are provided under Note 32 to the Financial Statements. Save for
the continuing connected transactions disclosed below, none of the related
party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected transaction or
continuing connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In relation to those related party transactions that also
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, they have complied with the applicable requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Group for the Year (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) are as follows:

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
subject to reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements

Purchases of fertilisers from Shandong Nongyuan
Nongzi Company Limited* (LEREREEGR A F)
(“Shandong Nongyuan”)

On 18 February 2022, the Company and Shandong Nongyuan entered into a
new purchase agreement to purchase fertilisers from Shandong Nongyuan
and its subsidiaries. During the Year, the Group had purchased fertilisers from
Shandong Nongyuan for sale to independent customers. The transaction
values of the purchases amounted to approximately HK$47.1 million. As the
Group is considered to be acting as an agent in respect of these purchase
and sale transactions, the Group recognised commission income of
HK$1,029,000 for acting as an agent in these transactions.

As Shandong Nongyuan is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Meng Xiao
who is a cousin of the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company,
Shandong Nongyuan is, therefore, deemed to be a connected person of the
Company.

The annual cap of the transaction value under the purchase agreement shall

not exceed HK$200 million, HK$150 million and HK$100 million for each of
the three years ending 30 April 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

*  The English transliteration of the Chinese name is for identification purpose only.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed the
Continuing Connected Transactions and confirmed that the transactions had
been made:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal or better commercial terms; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as
a whole.

The Independent Auditor was engaged to report on the Continuing
Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The Independent Auditor has issued their
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Independent Auditor has performed agreed-upon procedures regarding
the Continuing Connected Transactions as set out above and states that:

(@  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved by the
Board;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group;

() nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and

(d)  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
Continuing Connected Transactions have exceeded the annual caps as
set by the Company.

56 Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited © Annual Report 2023/2024

B ETR a‘J%14A551|’1 BN IEWMITEERE
%ﬁﬁf HR G WHERBBEXZTIRNAT
‘EJ/R—F

() REAEENBEBEREEEKBRREFR:

iy  PAIEHE Sk 4F M E KK

(i) WEBEEEBEARTFEE ZGERETLIL
HEMRZERME -

BYZEMEZRBRETSSTMASEM
MEBEEEEERFE30005 (KI1ER]) FL

MEEHEEAER NI EZETLEN2E

E%ﬁ%%wm%%%tﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁ#ﬁ@
RBHZEMAFEFERER HIELRK
% 83 A% BEN B AR R £ T AR Bl 58 14A.56 1K 3

HERESERE HTEEAENLEXRE
MSERERSNBEERMER °
BYUBZBMER EXABEFERER AR

WREFI R :

@ HHMEFREFNEFREER/TEN
RPAREBESSHME

b) BMEEEAEEREMLE YRS
ME EMEZRENFETEELRRZ
EXH(MERERTE) ARG TAE
) & T B BUR

© EMEBEBRAMNSEFERAZEXR
(REHERXFTE) WIERBEEEZES
SMEBEHBEMEI L &

></
b o

VI

=7 X

o HEBBEZRCOFTREELR/FERE
RZCBAARAARFELR-



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (GONTINUED) o

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem its listed securities nor did the Company or any
of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such securities during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float of the issued Shares (i.e. at least 25% of the issued Shares in
public hands) during the Year and thereafter up to the date of the Annual
Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the service contracts of the Executive Directors)
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed by the Shareholders on 21 April
2015 (the “Adoption Date”).

1. Purpose and Participants

The primary purpose of the Scheme is providing eligible participants
with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and to
motivate, attract and retain the eligible participants (the “Participants”)
whose contributions are important to the long-term growth and
profitability of the Group. Participants of the Scheme include any
employees, Executive Directors, non-executive Directors (including
INEDs), advisors, consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company (excluding options
lapsed pursuant to the Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company) must not exceed 80,000,000, representing 10% of the
issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) as at
the Adoption Date and the date of the Annual Report.

Offer of a share option shall be deemed to have been accepted by the
grantee when the duplicate of the relevant offer letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together with a
remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof, is received by the Company within
28 days from the date of the offer.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a
price determined by the Board at its sole discretion and notified to the
Participant and shall be no less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date on which a Share Option is granted, and (ii) the average of
the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
date on which a Share Option is granted; and (i) the nominal value of a
Share.

(i) Subject to paragraphs (i) and (jii) below, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted to each Participant (except for the parties
mentioned in paragraph (i) below) (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares, if any).
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(i) Notwithstanding (i) above, any further grant of share options to a
Participant in excess of the 1% limit or the limit mentioned in
paragraph (i) below (as the case may be) shall be subject to
approval by our Shareholders in general meeting with such
Participant and his or her close associates (or his associates if
the participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
The number and the terms of the share options to be granted to
such Participant shall be fixed before the Shareholders’ approval
and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such further
grant should be taken as the date for grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price.

(i) A substantial Shareholder or an INED, or any of their respective
associates can be granted options comprising the underlying
Shares (a) in aggregate not over 0.1% of the issued Shares or (b)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of the grant, not in excess of HK$5 million.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme and such other terms and conditions upon which a share
option was granted, at any time during the option period after the share
option has been granted by the Board but in any event, not longer than
10 years from the date of grant. A share option shall lapse automatically
and not be exercisable (to the extent not already exercised) on the
expiry of the option period.

The Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the Adoption Date, after which period no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall in all
other respects remain in full force and effect and share options which
are granted during the life of the Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

On 4 January 2018, the Company offered to grant to certain Participants
options, which were subject to, among others, a refreshment of the scheme
mandate limit for the Scheme (the “Refreshment”). The resolution concerning
the Refreshment was duly passed by the Shareholders at an EGM held on 25
January 2018.
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o REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE @

As the offers of the grant of the share options had not been accepted by the
selected Participants in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Scheme, no share options were granted and outstanding as at 30 April 2024.

As at 1 May 2023 and 30 April 2024, the number of share options available
for grant under the Share Option Scheme is 80,000,000 Shares. No share
options were exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company has not entered into other equity-linked agreements that (i)
would or might result in the Company issuing Shares or (i) would require the
Company to enter into any agreements that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares during the Year and up to the date of the Annual
Report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during the Year (2023:
HK$3,000).

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares of the Company.

MATERIAL EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group did not have any material subsequent event after the reporting
period and up to the date of the Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (GONTINUED) o

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Annual Report (including the audited
Financial Statements) and the annual results announcement of the Company
for the Year and had submitted the same to the Board for approval. Members
of the Audit Committee are of the opinion that the Financial Statements, the
results announcement and the Annual Report have been prepared in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
the relevant statutory provisions and that an adequate disclosure has been
made.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Fan, Chan, will retire as the Independent Auditor and being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming 2024 AGM to re-appoint

Fan, Chan as the Independent Auditor until the conclusion of the next AGM
and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

PUBLICATION OF INFORMATION ON THE
WEBSITES

The Annual Report will be available for viewing on the website of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkex.com.hk and on the website of the Company at www.
prosperoneintl.com in due course in the manner required by the Listing Rules.

By order of the Board

Liu Guoqing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 July 2024
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O INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB ERE

SAIR G 3t ERAT A R 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PROSPER ONE INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prosper One
International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 147, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

62 Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited ® Annual Report 2023/2024

E-EBRERERABDIIMCER

(RESHETIME LB ERAA)

=R

HMEBSREHVNEOE147TH S — B IER
ERAR(EARDREMBRAR(GHEIE
E8))2EAUEHRE  BER S -_NFN
A=tHZHEEMBEHRAR BEZBLLF
ErzHRABEsRkREMEEKREER SLAMERS
BHERGARERER  UREAMBR
EHF(BREERSTBEE) °

BMRAE HEVERRRBRIEABT S S
REBRHGRCEBVBRELEIDEERQAF
MRkT SEER-_ZT-_NEMA=+H
MM BIRAE REBEEZB LFENLGS
AUBRBERGEEESRE YERERS
(ARG BEBR T Z ARE -

RRNER

RMERBEESAMASEMNCEERG
EADETES - BMAEZFERNTRENT
FEEARE [T BENFL T Hir & M I WK A
BZEEISOPEE-—FRL - REFES
e AEEMmRCEREAMBETAND(ST
BRI H&MBLIN EXE LEBTTAH
MEMEXEREMT  RFABGE RAMES
MEFREERELEZHARMANERER
HER-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (GONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. The matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on the matter. We have
determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to be

communicated in our report.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMOAREFTEERREENSAE

Valuation of inventories

FEMGE

Refer to notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements
IR AR A B IR E M aE 4% 19

We identified valuation of inventories as a key audit matter
because the carrying amount of inventories was significant and
the assessment of recoverability of the carrying amount involved
significant judgement and estimation uncertainty.
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The Group had inventories of gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$13,789,000 and an allowance for write-down
of inventories of approximately HK$9,266,000 as at 30 April
2024.
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Our audit procedures in relation to management’s valuation
assessment of inventories included:

BMEHEREEMETFEMENGNRIREFERE:

° Understanding the Group’s key controls in relation to the
identification of slow-moving inventories and measurement
of the allowance for write-down of inventories;

e B BEHRERMNFHFERAEMRTFEREB
Bz

° Understanding and evaluating the appropriateness of the
basis used by the management in estimating the level of
inventory allowance, taking into consideration the
inventory aging as at 30 April 2024 and subsequent sales
after 30 April 2024;
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)

B E SR ()

Valuation of inventories (Continued)

FE G E (F)

In estimating the allowance for write-down of inventories, it is the
Group’s policy to review the net realisable value of inventories
periodically with reference to aging analysis, seasonality and
current market conditions. These assessments are subject to
uncertainties arising from changes in market trends, customer
tastes and current business environment.
EAGHAEERER ESENEER2ERESN
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter (Continued)

EMmMARETPEERRETSZHEGER

° Assessing and examining the assumptions and estimates
applied by management in determining the allowance for
slow-moving inventories, including discussing with the
management for the assumptions and judgement made in
assessing net
reasonableness of the management’s assessment of
saleability of inventories with reference to historical record

realisable values and evaluating

of the inventories;
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° Assessing the historical accuracy of allowance for slow-
moving inventories to evaluate the appropriateness of the
basis made by the management in the current year; and
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° Comparing the carrying amount of the inventories, on a
sample basis, to their net realisable value through review
of subsequent sales. Where there are no subsequent
sales of the respective inventories subsequent to the year
end date, we challenged management on the assumptions
and basis applied to estimate the net realisable value of
the inventories, corroborating the explanations with aging,
consumer demand and market trends of the respective
inventories, as appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (GONTINUED)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concermn and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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B M %A RS (E)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (GONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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o INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B M %A RS (E)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Rooms 1007-1012
10/F., K. Wah Centre
191 Java Road
North Point

Hong Kong

31 July 2024

Lam Wai Yan
Practising Certificate Number: PO6906
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“\‘
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND O
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaBs Rk HAi 2 EHKSE R

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE_—Z_FEMNA=+HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mME —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
o &t FHET F& T
(Restated)
(FeE75))
Continuing operations BEREEL
Revenue U %5 5 71,854 35,563
Cost of sales 8 65 B AR (30,394) (904)
Gross profit EF 41,460 34,659
Other gains and losses, net Hib s R BB FHE 7 2,370 477
Selling and distribution costs $HE Mo Ak AR (21,100) (11,264)
Administrative expenses THRAX (18,015) (15,503)
Finance costs Bl & AR 8 (171) (15)
Profit before tax from continuing operations KB R EKEEHIBR T AT
ikl 9 4,544 8,354
Income tax expense FTi8 % 10 (3,263) (5,153)
Profit for the year attributable to owners of AAREEABMLRE
the Company from continuing operations FELEEBOFENR N 1,281 3,201
Discontinued operation ERIEER
Loss for the year attributable to owners of NATHEE AEERBE K
the Company from discontinued operation IEEBHFANEE 12 - (5,858)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(EE) 1,281 (2,657)
Other comprehensive expense Hth 2 EMAX
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HiEgt e g5 B2
profit or loss BmIEH
— Exchange differences arising from translaton ~— — B & /BINEFETEEN
of foreign operations M W =& (2,763) (2,062)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEMRAZ B (1,482) (4,719)

E-ERERERAT e —F-=£/—F-NEER (9



O CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

fraiBm & H M2 E W E R (#)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_WMFEMNA=+HILFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
o &t FHET F& T
(Restated)
(FeE75))
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of KA Bl A A B F AE T,
the Company (E18)
— From continuing operations —REFELCEER 1,281 3,201
— From discontinued operation —REBERIEER - (5,858)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(BE) 1,281 (2,657)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the KRR HEABGEANZE
year attributable to the owners of the Company (AX) a4z
— From continuing operations —KRABECLEER (1,482) 1,139
— From discontinued operation —REABRIEER - (5,858)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRE2EMAZAHE (1,482) (4,719)
Earnings/(loss) per share — basic and diluted BRAF, (BB - EXK
(HK cent per share) B8 (gREWL) 15
— From continuing operations —REFELEED 0.16 0.40
— From discontinued operation —REBRIEER = (0.73)
0.16 (0.33)
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\

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION O
e AR RER

As at 30 April 2024 A =ZE =P A=

2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aF THExT FHET
Non-current assets IFERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NMEE 16 590 99
Right-of-use assets TREEE 17 Lyl =
Deferred tax assets LR IBE = 18 237 237
1,768 336
Current assets MEEE
Inventories FE 19 4,523 1,586
Trade receivables, other receivables and B 5 WA - H b e
prepayments MEPNEEENE Q] 20 100,962 73,485
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 21 65,837 126,190
171,322 201,261
Total assets BEE 173,090 201,597
Capital and reserves AR A K {7 1
Share capital B& 7 25 8,000 8,000
Reserves & 7,371 8,853
Total equity B 15,371 16,853
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e B A IR T 3R ()

As at 30 April 2024 AT _HFEPH=+H

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
o &t TERT FAT

Current liabilities mEBE
Trade and other payables B 5 K& E b fE A~ 208 22 110,540 137,736
Lease liabilities HEBRE 23 o4 135
Amount due to ultimate holding company RS < S 2 NGO 24 46,095 46,060
Tax liabilities MEAaE 143 813
157,719 184,744
Total liabilities BEHAE 157,719 184,744
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 173,090 201,597

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 147 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2024 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Liu Guoging
ZEELE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES I‘lx\T,EQUITY O
mERERE TR

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_—Z_pFEMA/=+H 1k

Share Share Capital  Statutory Translation Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
BREx KROEE BrRE LZTERE ERRE ZitEE EEAH
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL THEL AT AT FTAT AT AT
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hisz1) (Hst2)
Balance at 1 May 2022 i
A A—BrEH 8,000 118,368 24,094 3,961 832 (133,683) 21,572
Total comprehensive expense 2ERIHAE
Loss for the year FRERE = = - - - (2,657) (2,657)
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBES
translation of foreign operations MERZE - - - - (2,062) = (2,062)
Total comprehensive expense EEHETASE - - - - (2,062) (2,657) (4,719)
Transfer to statutory reserve BB ELTHE - - - 1,775 = (1,779) =
Balance at 30 April 2023 and R-_B-_=%
1 May 2023 HA=+HR
—Eo=fF
A A— Bk 8,000 118,368 24,094 5,736 (1,230) (138,115) 16,853
Total comprehensive expense 2 HHXEH
Profit for the year F 7 A = = - - - 1,281 1,281
Exchange differences arising on BEBMNEBMES
translation of foreign operations RE =5 - - - - (2,763) - (2,763)
Total comprehensive expense FEAXBE = - - - (2,763) 1,281 (1,482)
Transfer to statutory reserve EBRELTRHE - - - 1,161 = (1,161) =
Balance at 30 April 2024 RZE-NF
WA=+ HK &% 8,000 118,368 24,094 6,897 (3,993 (137,995) 15,371

E-BEBRERERQF =
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GEREBER G

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZ_—Z—PUFMA=+HILFE

Note 1:
The balance of capital reserve comprises the following:

On 23 June 2011, Mr. Lam Man Wah (“Mr. Lam”), one of the previous controlling
shareholders of the Company, acquired the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of
the Company from an independent third party. The difference between the fair value of
the equity interests acquired and the consideration paid amounting to HK$1,610,000
was credited to the capital reserve.

On 31 October 2014, Mr. Lam agreed to waive part of his lending to the Group. The
waived amount of HK$14,282,000 was recognised as deemed capital consideration
and credited to the capital reserve.

On 9 April 2015, the Company allotted and issued 5,833 and 94,166 of its shares to
Ms. Ma Lili and Tic Tac Investment Holdings Limited, a company owned by the previous
controlling shareholders, respectively, to acquire their respective shareholding interests
in the subsidiaries of the Company.

As a result, a balance of HK$3,902,000 was credited to the capital reserve representing
the difference between the carrying value of the non-controlling interest of Jenus Top
International Limited acquired over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange thereof. The combined share capital of the other
subsidiaries of the Company of HK$4,300,000 was reclassified to capital reserve upon
the completion of the Group reorganisation.

Note 2:

As stipulated by the relevant regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operating in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of their profit after tax as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to equity owners. The statutory reserve can be used to make
good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-up capital by
issuing additional capital to the owners in proportion to the owners’ existing equity
holdings, provided that the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.
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o CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS O
mEBHERER

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #E—T_PWFMA=+HLSE,

2024 2023
—E-mME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
(Restated)
(&5
Operating activities )
Profit/(loss) before tax B A AL (B 48)
— From continuing operations —REARBECEER 4,544 8,354
— From discontinued operation —REBRIEFEE = (5,858)
Adjustments for: AT FIBEFE
Finance costs B & AR 171 96
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- BERZBINE 52 63
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 581 =
Gain from lease modifications MEBT 2 W= (73) -
Impairment loss on property, plant and ERERYE  BE LEERE
equipment recognised &5 18 = 466
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BELXREZ
equipment W &% 58 = (107)
Interest income FE A (281) (309)
Allowance for write-down of inventories B MR MR F G
recognised 392 B35
Operating cash flows before movements in working & & & & & F) Al 1) K &
capital ReRE 5,386 3,084
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE (gm, md (3,329) 3,389
Increase in trade receivables, other receivables and ~ JEUE 5 Fh 18 - H b iE W3k IE
prepayments T8 {5 SR IE 1 N (30,811) (4,355)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables B 5 Rk E AR FRIE Rl 4,10 (21,073) 41,898
Cash (used in)/generated from operations e (FTA) /BB e (49,827) 44,016
Interest received 2 A 281 305
Income tax paid BRI (3,933) (5,864)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities ESES (BT, /FTBIRE F58 (53,479) 38,457
Investing activities BEED
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE WELRE (548) (508)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and LEME - BE REE
equipment FriS 3818 = 107
Redemption of financial asset at fair value BRZAFEFAERZ
through profit or loss TEEE = 3,684
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities BEEE (TR FBREFE (548) 3,283
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERITRERGE)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Financing activities BB ES
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EEHEaENEAeT D (643) (860)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEREFE (171) (65)
Repayment of bank loan EEBRITER = (4,000)
Advances from ultimate holding company R3Sl FNETE- B 500 10,370
Repayments to ultimate holding company M) S AR RR A FE K (465) -
Interest paid on borrowings B AT fEHFE = 31
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities BMEEE (FTR) FEREFE (779) 5,414
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents R4 RIR&ZEWH G4 ), 1 hn
it (54,806) 47,154
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes S [ R B ) 52 & (5,547) (3,423)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the FEHNRERESZEEY
year 126,190 82,459
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, FRNBESNIRGTEEDY
represented by bank balances and cash (BN - RITHEAR KRR &) 65,837 126,190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS O

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_-ZT_FMA=+H - FE._

GENERAL INFORMATION

Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
issued shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate and
ultimate holding company of the Company is Prosper One Enterprises
Limited and its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Meng Guangyin, who
was also the chairman of the Board of Directors and the chief executive
officer of the Company before 10 April 2024.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
acting as agent (for financial reporting purposes) in the sales and
trading of fertilisers and other related products, and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”)
are the retail and wholesale of watches in Hong Kong, manufacture and
sales of compound fertilisers and acting as agent (for financial reporting
purposes) in the sales and trading of fertiliser raw materials, fertilisers
and other related products. As set out in Note 12, the Group’s retalil
business has been reclassified as discontinued operation during the
year. The address of the principal place of business of the Company is
Room 4801, 48/F., Hopewell Centre, No. 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

a. New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 May
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

° HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts (including the October 2020 and
amendments to February 2022 HKFRS 17)

° Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of accounting policies

° Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates

o Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single transaction

o Amendments to HKAS 12, International tax reform — Pilar Two
model rules

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current year
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments to HKAS 1,
accounting policy information that is standardised information, or
information that only duplicates or summarises the requirements of the
HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy information and is
no longer disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements so as not to obscure the material accounting policy
information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (VVCONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—-Z—pO4mMA=+H &*"ﬁb

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

b. Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these consolidated
financial statements.

2.
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o Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture FE

BEVBHRERAF10RRBLERAEANFE 28R (BITR)REEZ K

AEBENAXAETr R EENEXNE

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

1 January 2024

BEEMBHREENEI6K BN ERHLOWHERE —ENHF—HA—BH
o Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and 1 January 2024
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) —E-_mFE—HA—H
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o Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

1 January 2024

BRGERNENREIRN)WERFENFERBEE —Z_ME—-H—H
° Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
ERGENETRREERNBREENETRUETR)  REFHE L T -WE—-—HA—H

° Amendments to HKAS 21: Lack of Exchangeability
EREGHERE2R(ERTR) : phZ T4 M

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all the
above amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

1 January 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
w5 B B AR M ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, as explained in the material accounting policies set

out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

The material accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) o |

e BB R EEE)
For the year ended 30 April 2024 QE:%:EEEHE+E¢%§‘§__—““

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a product or service
to the customer at the amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled under that performance obligation,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time. HKFRS 15
identifies the following three situations in which control of the promised
good or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

(i) When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance, as the Group
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performs; i

(i)  When the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset iy EAEEBLHAIERER—BEE
that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; EMZEELEEMXAIERIEERED
or B IR 5%

(i)~ When the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the Group’s activities do not fall into any of
these three situations, then under HKFRS 15 the Group recognised
revenue for the sale of that good or service at a point in time, being
when control has passed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services
to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognised revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange
for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(a) Sale of merchandise
Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised at a point in
time when control of the products is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the products.

(b) Trading of fertiliser raw materials, fertilisers and

other related products (the “fertilisers and other
products”)
The Group determines that the nature of its promise is to arrange
for the fertiliser raw materials, fertilisers and other related
products to be provided by the suppliers to the customers and
hence, for financial reporting purposes under HKFRS 15, the
Group is an agent not a principal. Commission income is
recognised at a point in time when the services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) o |
or the year ende pri o = 3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

(c) Service income on repairing watches
The Group provides repair services on watches to customers,
which is a single performance obligation. The service income is
recognised at a point in time when the service is completed.

(d) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of
financial position at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “Other
gains and losses, net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Lease

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of various offices, warehouses, equipment and vehicles that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R S ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—-Z—pO4mMA=+H ﬂ:ﬁb

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognised and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease term
has changed.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for staff in Hong
Kong and state-managed retirement benefit schemes for staff in the
PRC are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the
operation and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the
rest of the Group and which:

° represents a separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations;
o is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate

major line of business or geographical area of operations; or

° is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued operation, the
comparative statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from
the start of the comparative year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
iR e B S R AR B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to recognised the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R S ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE —ZF — U4 A=+ HIMEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is recognised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to
the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
disposal or retirement of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net recognised value.
Cost of inventories are determined on the weighted average method.
Net recognised value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #ZE —Z — P4 A= +E¢%Z‘“__—_“

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the

cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
time value of money is material).

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and
measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Impairment on tangible assets and right-of-use
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Impairment on tangible assets and right-of-use
assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) o

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition”.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASFHEER @

IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the asset is recognised, modified or impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognised an allowance for the “expected credit loss” (“‘ECL”)
for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) o |

e BB R EEE)
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_—Z_p4FMA=+H ﬂ:i&\_/

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASFHEER @

IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganization; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_—Z_p4FMA=+H ﬂ:@&\_/

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage1 —

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured

at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, bank loan and
amount due to ultimate holding company) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognizes a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (BONTINUED) o |
or the year ende pri o = E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. B BXREM@
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SR T A

Derecognition (Continued) TR @)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the R ITEREEEN AT ENEREE
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the B -EAEFDEACWREKRREZN
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. ZEBENEBRTER-

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when, the AEEEEAEBENETELEEBIT
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The BRENBNENELT T eRILERS
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability MEE KRIEZNSHEGERAER
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in ENEEMNREzZEN=Z=EaNER
profit or loss. TR o

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BB S ¥ R A T8
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EMNEERIR

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

Principal versus agent considerations for
trading of fertilisers, fertiliser raw materials and
other related products

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or as an agent,
for financial reporting purposes, in the sales of goods requires exercise
of judgement and consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances.
In the evaluation of whether the Group is acting as a principal or an
agent, the Group noted that it does not obtain control of the fertilisers,
fertiliser raw materials and other related products from the suppliers
before passing on to customers. The Group also considers, individually
and in combination, whether the Group is primarily responsible for
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fulfiling the promise to provide the fertilisers and other related products, A EAEHBEFERRARERTER
is subject to inventory risk and has discretion in establishing prices for EAEE -EREEBEER ;E f’E Y&
the goods. Significant judgement is required when making these j( ¥|J o REEABEERE =B

considerations. Having considered the relevant facts and

VRN SJEIN 3T %ﬂ&ﬁ@ﬁ%

circumstances, management considers that the Group does not obtain E DESHEBEMNIESIE At B
control in respect of the trading activities involving the fertilisers and BERms  AEBETERXEMERR
other related products. Accordingly, the Group considers that for ERHEENEINRE  HIEKRZF
financial reporting purposes, it is acting as an agent for sale and trading FEEEEANZES -

of fertilisers and other related products and the corresponding revenue
is recognized and presented on a net basis.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—-Z—pO4mMA=+H ﬂ:i&\_/

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and residual values and impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
Group will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
The Group tests annually whether its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets have suffered any impairment in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies. The assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is determined
based on value in use calculations which require the use of
assumptions and estimates.

As at 30 April 2024, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are HK$590,000 (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$466,000) (2023: HK$99,000 (net
of accumulated impairment loss of HK$466,000)), and HK$941,000 (net
of accumulated impairment loss of HK$nil) (2023: HK$nil (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$308,000)) respectively.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market conditions and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly in response to changes in market trends, customer tastes
and business environment. The Group will reassess the estimations by
the end of the reporting period. As at 30 April 2024, the carrying
amount of inventories was HK$4,523,000 (net of allowance for write-
down of HK$9,266,000) (2023: HK$1,586,000 (net of allowance for
write-down of HK$10,251,000)).
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o NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

5. REVENUE 5. W&

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, all of which were recognised from
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 is as follows:

AEBENREBEMBEREEAFE 155 E
RzWm(rEREHBE TP A DER

DT -
2024 2023
—E_ME —_ET-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(Restated)
(re&E75)
From continuing operations REBESEELK
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEEE LY
Sales of watches 55 BB ik 1,771 1,210
Sales of compound fertilisers HEESE 30,960 =
Service income PR 75 WA 10 4
Commission income AL KA 39,113 34,349
Revenue from continuing operations REFBEEEEBR R 71,854 35,563
From discontinued operation RECRILER
Revenue from contracts with customers FKEEFEHB WKz
Sales of watches 5 BB % - 5,942
Service income PR 75 WA - 5
Revenue from discontinued operation REDRIEEBRE - 5,947
Total revenue Pl g 71,854 41,510
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (BONTINUED) o |
e BB R EEE)
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —P4Fm A=+ EIU:@&\_/

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. l‘l&?ﬁ(%)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised
below:

Sales of watches and compound fertilisers

The performance obligation is recognised at a point in time when
control of the products is transferred to the customer, being at the
point the customer purchases the goods at the store, on delivery of the
merchandise for wholesale segment, or on delivery of the compound
fertilisers for manufacture and sales segment. Payment of the
transaction price is due immediately, within 90 days, at the point the
customer purchases the products under the retail, wholesale and
manufacture segments, or is in advance from the customers before the
compound fertilisers are provided, respectively.

Service income

The Group provides services on repairing watches to customers. The
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the service is
completed and advance payments are normally required before
rendering the services. The Group’s enforceable right to the payment is
subject to the completion of the whole services. The services are for
periods less than one year.

Commission income

The performance obligation is completed at a point in time when the
services on arranging trading of fertilisers and other related products
are completed. Payment is generally in advance from the customers
before the agency services are provided.

All the contracts in relation to trading of fertilisers are for original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations of the
Group that were unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied as at the end of the
reporting periods in relation to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the wholesale and retail of watches
in Hong Kong and acting as agent in the trading of fertilisers, fertiliser
raw materials and other related products. During the year, the Group
has also engaged in manufacture and sales of compound fertilisers in
Mainland China. As set out in Note 12, the Group’s watch retail
business has been reclassified as discontinued operation.

Information reported to the Group’s executive directors, who are the
chief operating decision makers (the “CODM”) of the Group, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance, are
focused on three main operations (2023: two) in the continuing
operations of the Group identified in accordance with the business
nature and the size of the operations.

Specifically, the reportable and operating segments of the Group in its
continuing operations under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

° Wholesale business of watches (“Wholesale”) — wholesale of

multi brands of watches in Hong Kong

° Trading of fertilisers and other related products (“Trading”) —
provision of agency services in relation to trading of fertilisers and
other related products in Hong Kong and Mainland China

° Manufacture and sales of compound fertilisers (“Manufacture”)
— manufacture and sales of compound fertilisers in Mainland
China

The discontinued operation was a reportable and operating segment of
the Group in previous financial years, as follows:

° Retail business of watches (“Retail”) — retail of multi brands of
watches in Hong Kong

There are no significant sales or other transactions among the
segments, except as disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (8ONTINUED) O !
or the year ende pri o = 3

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7EER @
Segment revenue and results DR R FEE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEEAHEFERNIREERAEHRD
operating and reportable segment for the two years: HED 2 W RFEEDWTHOT
For the year ended 30 April 2024 BE-_ZE-_NENA=1+HLEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BESEER BRLEEE
Wholesale Trading Manufacture  Sub-total Retail Total
i g5 B Nt Z£ @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR T TERT TR TR

Revenue L
External sales INEDEEE 1,771 - 30,960 32,731 - 32,731
External service income INERBR 7S M A 10 - - 10 - 10
External commission income M E5 B & A - 39,113 - 39,113 - 39,113
Inter-segment sales DEEEE - - - - - -
1,781 39,113 30,960 71,854 - 71,854
Segment (loss)/profit A (BR)/HF (5,361) 16,261 1,471 12,371 - 12,371
Finance costs R &R A (171) - (171)
Unallocated group expenses KD BRE BRI (7,656) = (7,656)
Profit before tax B B4 81 e Al 4,544 - 4,544

E-ERZRERAFA s —T=-=F/—2-mEEH |05



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 30 April 2023 (Restated)

7 2B E F )

DEWM R R EE

BE-ZE-_-—FNA=tHLEE
(REZ)

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation

RELEEH BRIEEH
Wholesale Trading Elimination Sub-total Retail Total
B 25 4 3 NEt 35 Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FHET FET FET
Revenue 3

External sales INEBEEE 1,210 — — 1,210 5,942 7,152
External service income 1 AR 75 Y A 4 - = 4 5 9

External commission HNER R & W A
income - 34,349 — 34,349 — 34,349
Inter-segment sales o EBEEE 256 = (256) - - -
1,470 34,349 (256) 35,563 5,947 41,510
Segment profit/(loss) DEE R, (EE) 316 20,587 — 20,903 (6,777) 15,126
Finance costs BLA KA (19) (81) (96)
Unallocated group expenses 7 7 id & B =% (12,534) - (12,534)
Profit/(loss) before tax B AN (BE) 8,354 (5,858) 2,496

Sales between segments are carried out on terms mutually agreed
between the parties involved in the transactions. The revenue from
external parties reported to the executive directors is measured in a
manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

The material accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s material accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (VVCONTINUED)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

No segment assets and liabilities information is provided as no such
information is regularly provided to the CODM of the Group for the
purpose of making decision for resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Geographical information

During the year, the Group’s operation is mainly located in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. The Group’s revenue by geographical location
of customers, based on location of delivery of the watches, compound
fertilisers or services, is detailed below:

6.

e RN E(#E)
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—-Z—pO4mMA=+H ﬁ"‘ﬁb

7 EE R @
DEWNBERES @
DEENE IRB TS ERTE -

N

BRI EE S AAEEE BEEREE
RUSHAERAEEN  AEEL A
BAOMRRERTERE  HTREEMH
A o

ih 32 & Bl
RAFE AEBZEBETEMRF
A NEE AREBZREPHIBME (B

RIS - B A IR ARE M XS ) 8l 0
ZWEFHBWT

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
(Restated)
('LE5))

From continuing operations REBEREXK
Mainland China R A 70,073 34,349
Hong Kong e 1,781 1,214
Sub-total revenue from continuing operations REFELEEBHW 71,854 35,563

From discontinued operation REBKRILEK

Hong Kong B - 5,947
Total st 71,854 41,510

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. There is no single external customer who
contributed more than 10% of total revenue of the Group for both
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R o )

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7EEH @
Geographical information (continued) i B & B )
The information of the Group’s non-current assets excluding deferred REBRMMWBMUNEBEE S ZIERBEE
tax assets and financial assets by geographical location is detailed (T"BEFRELEHREEERSREE)ER
below: RIEMT
2024 2023
—E-ONF —EC-=%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Mainland China AR A i 1,531 99
Hong Kong BA = -
Other disclosures Hibh iy &
For the year ended 30 April 2024 BE-_Z-_NENA=+HLEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
RELCEER BRLEER
Sub-total
from Unallocated
continuing Group
Wholesale Trading Manufacture operations Retail  expenses Total
HERE RO B
3 g5 BE EB ZE KERX @t

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR

Additions to non-current K B ER BB E

assets - 548 5,980 6,528 - - 6,528
Depreciation of property, #1% - BifE & &%

plant and equipment nE = 52 = 52 = - 52
Depreciation of right-of-  FREEENE

use assets - - 581 581 - - 581
Freight costs EBHA - 13,632 14 13,646 - - 13,646
Government grants TS B - 66 = 66 = = 66
Allowance for write-down 2 #RHAFE 2

of inventories g

recognised 392 - - 392 - - 392
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (BONTINUED) o !
RE B R R ()
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZ—Z P4 A=+H 3

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7EEH @
Other disclosures (Continued) H i E @)
For the year ended 30 April 2023 (Restated) BE-_S-_=-FNA=1+HLEE
(&)
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
RELEED ERIEES
Sub-total from Unallocated
continuing Group
Wholesale Trading operations Retail expenses Total
SELE ADE
B g5 ES Y5 Z€ EERX @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET TET TET THET
Additions to non-current assets R B IER B EE 508 - 508 - = 508
Depreciation of property, plant %1% - BE & &
and equipment E 45 18 63 - - 63
Freight costs BEKA - 5,840 5,840 - - 5,840
Gain on disposal of property, ~ HENE  HER
plant and equipment RfE 2 s - - = 107 = 107
Government grants BIFH#E - 7 71 272 159 502
Allowance for write-down of ERAMREE
inventories recognised B 86 - 86 289 - 375
Impairment loss on property, ME BB KRB
plant and equipment EEE 466 = 466 = = 466

E-BEBRERERQF =



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. Htt s REEFHE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
(Restated)
(F£E5))
From continuing operations REFEREEK
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) &5 W (E18) F 8 1,939 (66)
Interest income B A 281 305
Sundry income HMETE WA 11 8
Gain from lease modifications HEBII ks 73 —
Government grants (note) RS 1 Bh (B a%) 66 230
Sub-total from continuing operations HEREE/)ET 2,370 477
From discontinued operation REBCKRIEEK
Net gain on disposal of property, HeEwmE MERREY
plant and equipment Woam ¥ 58 = 107
Government grants (note) BR KT # B (B 2%) - 272
Sub-total from discontinued operation BARIEE /AT - 379
Total Bt 2,370 856

Note: The government grants represent financial subsidies for compensating
expenses already incurred or giving immediate financial support to the
Group. There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies in relation to
the grants and the grants were determined at the sole discretion of
relevant government authorities in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Government grant income recognised in the current year includes an
amount of HK$nil (2023: HK$431,000) in respect of COVID-19-related
subsidies, which relate to Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Hong Kong government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (BONTINUED) o !
RE B R R ()
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZ—Z P4 A=+H 3

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. &

2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(&)

From continuing operations REFELCEER
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 171 15

From discontinued operation RECKRIEEK

Interest on bank loan RITERF B = 31
Interest on lease liabilities HEAER S = 50
Sub-total from discontinued operation B IEER /AT = 81
Total 4a =t 171 96

E-ERZRERAF  ZB==F /"Z-MNFFR |]]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. BR®AIRF

2024 2023
—E-MEF —ETZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(F£E5))
Profit before tax from continuing operations KB R ELEEBRBR TR R T
has been arrived at after charging: TR T SEES
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - BELZETE 52 63
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 581 —
Auditor’s remuneration % BB 57 B 900 900
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment ¥ % - & &= & 3% & BB & 18 - 466
Freight costs EE KA 13,646 5,840
Short-term lease expenses EHEERS 265 192
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) EEEM(ME13) 6,697 9,727
Other staff HMmET
— Salaries and wages —HehIE& 10,968 4,853
— Other employee benefits —HtEBREF 45 25
— Retirement benefit scheme contribution of — HEfh B THYRIKEFETE]
other staff = 982 645
Total staff costs B TR A58 18,692 15,250
Allowance for write-down of inventories 84 & A AN TR R MR T B B R
recognised in cost of sales 392 86
Carrying amount of inventories sold recognised R ABMEXRANEEFE
in cost of sales BRmEE 30,002 818
Loss before tax from discontinued operation REERIEEBEHBRBATEERTY
has been arrived at after charging: RIBRA T S IEES L -
Short-term lease expenses EHHEERY = 672
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) EEHE(HE13) = -
Other staff HMmET
— Salaries and wages —HekIE& - 5,003
— Other employee benefits — Efb{E B &7 = 3
— Retirement benefit scheme contribution of — Hfb B THRIKEBR T2
other staff 3R = 143
Total staff costs B TR A58 - 5,149
Allowance for write-down of inventories 8 E R AN R R MUR T B B R
recognised in cost of sales = 289
Carrying amount of inventories sold recognised R AHER AN EERE
in cost of sales BREE - 3,812
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—-ZT—PUFNA =+ HIMEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. Fr 8B X
2024 2023
—EN4E —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FAT
From continuing operations: REFELCEEK:
Current taxation Bl AR i 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEMEH = -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) FECEMGH(CEMRBSH]) 3,440 5,184
Sub-total /et 3,440 5,184
(Oven)/under provision for prior years BAEFEGRERE), BETR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BANEH = (88)
PRC EIT PRI EMER (166) 57
Sub-total IR (166) 31
Deferred taxation (note 18) EEFL A (B aF18) (11) =
Total #st 3,263 5,153
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong, the first BMIEETENEHMAH  KEFBESEK
HK$2 million taxable profit of the qualifying corporation of the Group is FEE2HE B T ERB A 15 1%8.25%
taxed at 8.25%, and taxable profits above HK$2 million are taxed at M EGH  MBE2EE BT EREN
16.5%. The directors considered the amount involved from the A G IR16.5% T R BT - EER A -
application of the two-tiered profits tax rates as insignificant to the B A 1S5 F R AR H B PTH N S RE H AR
consolidated financial statements. Other subsidiaries in Hong Kong are SRR I EE N - THEE MK B
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5%. NA G 16.5%N R BN EEFIEH -
Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation BEFPHRCEMSH ([N ¥EEREMN
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries was FEDRLCERMSFHZEZEREN  WEF
25% for both years. EzHR BN ERRZHER25% -

E-ERBRERAT . —F-=F /—F-mEFHE ]]3
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

o NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. FREBBAXZ W

AEEZBAXHATEESBRGE REM
EHEERAEGRAENEROT

2024 2023
—E-NF —ZET-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(Restated)
(re&E75)
Profit before tax from: BB A m AR G
— continuing operations —FRBREEEB 4,544 8,354
— discontinued operation —BRIEER - (5,858)
Sub-total NEF 4,544 2,496
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% IR PR 1S T £ 16.5% 5T & 2 Bi 18
(20283: 16.5%) (note) (ZZEZ=%F : 16.5%) (A7) 750 412
Tax effects of: AT EEBE2BRB
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes R R 216 2,110
Income not taxable for tax purposes EARBTIA —* (434)
Tax losses not recognised REERIAE B 1,561 1,782
Utilisation of deductible temporary difference &) 55 Rl R W RR 2 AT R
previously not recognised TR = (29) (441)
Over provision for prior years WITFERERE (166) (31)
Different tax rate of subsidiaries M B AR 2 T EB X 931 1,755
Income tax expense i8R X 3,263 5,153

* Amount was less than HK$1,000

Note: The domestic tax rate, which is the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate, in the
jurisdiction where the operations of the Group are substantially based is

used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R S ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE —ZF — U4 A=+ HIMEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

11

12

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 10% is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of taxable
temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately RMB55,689,000 (2023:
RMB45,855,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting year.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, it has
brought unprecedented challenges to the Group’s watch retail
business. Coupled with the rapid rise of smart watches in the market,
the popularity of mid-priced branded watches has waned. Although the
Group had implemented various marketing strategies to boost sales,
the retail shops still recorded continuous losses. The Group determined
to close three underperforming shops and hence did not renew the
leases upon expiry of the rental agreements during the previous year.
The Group had closed all retail shops by November 2022 as the
business performance of watch retail business was severely affected.

11.

12.

10. FREBBAXZ W

BEFRECEMSHE BZTTN\F
—R—B# 3P KB RRA
i A AT R B B B BB IR 10% T8 F0 8 »
I 4 kAR BB B A B R 55 I E (R A B
R R M E R A R %6 55,689,000 7T
—E-=4F: AR®45,8550007T) R4R
EMBREPAREECHBEE  RE
EAEEARENEHBE TR EED
B BxSERUEE8Ra B ARARR
REJRER G o

Hﬁ /%\

HE_E_NMER-_E-_=FMWA=1+
AIEFE  FERRNARLB®RRKRK
M BRIEZRMTARE  AHKE
FRMEEZRNTEMMBRE -

BRIERTE

BT ZZF Y& FECOVID-19%& 15 MU
K AREBEBEETEEBERAFR
BHkE  BMESEFHREMS LR
RURE REUDEREOIEDREE
WHEISS BEAEECDERZEEHER
BELAEHEE S AETEEENAFE
BEBE - ANEBATHA=MREAR
ENERH BMREFHOBREARABE
B -BHRBERTZEEBNLERBES
BEYE AEER-_ZT_—_F+—A
ZAIBHEETEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 12.ERLEB @

The closure of the watch retail shops is accounted for as abandonment
of the watch retail business by the Group. As the business operation of
the retail watches was considered as a separate major line of business
and was a separate reportable segment of the Group, the watch retail
business which has been abandoned by the Group met the criteria for
discontinued operation of the Group. Hence the results and cash flows
of the watch retail business of the Group are presented in the
consolidated financial statements as discontinued operation of the

MEHMETEEARIERAEENRE
BETEXE -BRBETERBRE
RBINETEXR Y RAKENBL
2RV RAEERENRETE
EBHRAKEHCREEBNEFEE - B
e ARERETEXTNXELRRS
MENGAMBRERZIRAKED K
LERA% -

Group.
2024 2023
—E-NF —T-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(a) Results of discontinued operation (@) ERIEEBWES
Revenue g &5 - 5,947
Cost of sales $HE KA = (4,101)
Gross profit E] - 1,846
Other gains and losses, net Hah Wz MBS 1EF 8 = 379
Selling and distribution costs HE RS HKAR = (2,616)
Administrative expenses THEX - (5,386)
Finance costs B & kA = 81)
Loss before tax bR AT E 1R = (5,858)
Income tax expense RS fim X = -
Loss for the year FAEE = (5,858)
(b) Loss for the year from discontinued (b) REELRLEBKNFEAEE
operation is arrived at after charging: TIRAMNBRUT&ERESH:
Allowance for write-down of inventories ERERMATE 2
recognised B - 289
(c) Cash flows from discontinued operation: (c) RE B LKL XN EE R E:
Net cash generated from operating KEEEFTSFRE
activities, net g - 2,464
Net cash generated from investing activities REEHFBFRS = 3,687
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHFAFRS - (4,733)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—-Z—pO4mMA=+H ﬂ:b

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed

e B R S ()

13.EERFETHRAEMS

RBERLEHRIRKRBHERIDEEZ

pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance, is FREERFEITHRAEBMES0T ¢
as follows:
Employer’s contribution to
Name of director EEHg Fees Salaries Discretionary bonus pension scheme Total
ne e METAL EESUSHE T3 @t

HK$'000 TAR 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

SBomE -Z-=F ZBINF -T-=F ZBCME “TC=F ZBC@FE “To-F ZBO@E CBocE
Executive Directors: #1778 % -
Meng Guangyin (note (a) % & 3 (#/5(3) 2,400 4,800 3,600 4,200 - = 9 18 6,009 9018
LiuGuoging (note (b))~ BIEE (Wi (b)) - - 250 250 - - 13 13 263 263
Liu Jiagiang EINIE: = - 17 179 - - 20 21 191 200
Li Dong Po FRE - - 54 54 - - - - 54 54
Independent BUFHITEE:

Non-Executive
Directors:

Tian Zhiyuan BEE 9% % - - - - - - 9 %
Lee Chun Keung (note (c) 235 % (#5(c) 2 48 - = - = - = 2 48
Wang Luping I&Y¥ 48 48 - - - - - - 48 48
Gao Jizhong (note (@) B & (M3t (d) 10 = - = - = - = 10 =
Total st 2,580 4,992 4,075 4,683 - - 42 52 6,697 9,727

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive officer waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023.

Notes:

(a) Mr. Meng Guangyin was the chairman of the board and the chief
executive officer of the Company before 10 April 2024. He has resigned
as executive director of the Company, and as chairman and chief
executive officer, with effect from 10 April 2024.

(b) Mr. Liu Guoging has been appointed as the chairman of the board and
the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 10 April 2024.
(c) Mr. Lee Chun Keung has resigned as an independent non-executive

director of the Company with effect from 16 November 2023.

(d) Mr. Gao Jizhong has been appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 15 February 2024.

EXATRRTEZEZHMENREREAR
ARAKEEHREEERB 2ME -

EXFRBIBITETZME RS
HERRBREEZZHE -

HE-_Z-_WFER-_ZE_=ZFNA=+
BEFE BMEZESHTREHBEE
MZHERESIRERZEEAHHNE -

e

@ ZEREER-_ZFT-_NFOA+HZ
MABAARESSEFRITHEAS jt
E-Z_WHEFMOMATARBEELRA
WMITES  EERITBAEHBE -

by BEELXEE_T_NFMOAT+HRE
Z%§E7%$’RET§$§IJ%%GBZ
B -

© FHEBELEB-_FT-_=F1t-A1TRX
FEBEARABABIIENTESTRY -

o BEAEEE-_ZFT-_MNF-_A+EHA
BEZTBARRBIYIFENITES -

E-ERERERAT e —F-=F /—B-NEER |]7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 14. T2 BESHFHMES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included
two directors (2023: two), details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 13 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
three (2023: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

FR - AEENTIEESFHEESE
ERME(ZE_=F MRB)EF AH
HHEMZHFBHR EXME13 Rk =
B(ZBEZ=F:=ZR)RHFEEMFER
RATBTBRAEBNESHFMEERE

FEZEMEFBLOT :

2024 2023

—E-N4E —E =4

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Salaries, other allowances and benefits in kind e EMEUEEDIE 4,872 4,065

Discretionary bonus BB TEAT - =
Retirement benefit costs R IRAE A B A

— Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme — B HlERESF S 54 a7

Total ®Et 4,926 4,112

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of

WHARREEMEFMETII@EEZ

the Company whose remuneration fell within the following band: AN RSHMNES A :
Number
AH
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=

Nil - HK$1,000,000 Z 1,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 7t — 3,500,000 % 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 /% 7T — 4,000,000 % 7T 1 =

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company or the chief executive of the Group or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (80NTINUED) O |
RE B R R ()
For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—-ZT—PUFNA =+ HIMEE

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 15. B8R ER(BE)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share AKANBBEAEANEEEREALNBER
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following (B8 HiRE L T#8IEE -
data:
2024 2023
—E-_NEF —ZET-=

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of  ZANQ & A A B F R T,

the Company (HK$’000) (FB18) (F&T)

— From continuing operations —REABERLER 1,281 3,201

— From discontinued operation —REBRIER - (5,858)
Total 4@zt 1,281 (2,657)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares BETETBRMETEH

in issue 800,000,000 800,000,000
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share BMERR#EERF, (EE)

(HK cent per share) (R AL)

— From continuing operations —REBELCEER 0.16 0.40

— From discontinued operation —REBERIEER = (0.78)
Total 4@zt 0.16 (0.33)
No adjustments have been made in calculating diluted earnings/(loss) HRAREEERNTETMESBTERE
per share for both years as there were no potential ordinary shares in TEE A EREAEENTREER
issue for both years. M, (BRI mEL A

E-EBERERAT . —2-=F /—F-mEEH ]9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ - BMERKE
Leasehold Furniture Office Motor

improvements and fixtures equipment vehicle Total

HENERE HFEREE BLERE "E wat

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET THT THET

COST N

At 1 May 2022 NZE-_—_FHA—H 3,433 465 620 804 5,322
Additions wNE = = 3 505 508
Disposals & (2,575) ) (24) (755) (3,355)
Exchange realignment SN 58 = = = © ©
At 30 April 2023 W-—B-=—&#mA=+A 858 464 599 545 2,466
Additions WE = = = 548 548
Exchange realignment AN B — - — (10) (10)
At 30 April 2024 RZBE-_NENA=1+H 858 464 599 1,083 3,004

DEPRECIATION AND FERBE

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 May 2022 R-ZE-_—_FRA—H 3,433 465 616 682 5,196
Provided for the year (note () 4 R & & (#7:(a)) - - 4 59 63
Impairment loss recognised & & 24 B 5 18

(note (b)) (K5t b)) - - 3 463 466
Eliminated on disposals P& (2,575) (1) (24) (755) (3,355)
Exchange realignment HNEE B — — — 3) 3)
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA=+H 858 464 599 446 2,367
Provided for the year (note () 4 N # & (K7 i#(a)) - - - 52 52
Exchange realignment HNEE S — — — (5) (5)
At 30 April 2024 R-ZZE-_MEMA=1AH 858 464 599 493 2,414
CARRYING VALUES REME
At 30 April 2024 R-ZE-_WNFMA=+H - - - 590 590
At 30 April 2023 RZEZ=FNA=+1H - — - 99 99
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated, taking
into account their residual values, on a straight-line basis as follows:

Leasehold improvements Lease terms of 2 to 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

As at the end of the previous reporting period, the directors of the
Company have conducted impairment assessment on recoverable
amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment which are used in
the Group’s wholesale business of watches, in view of the continuous
unfavorable operating results from that business. The management
estimated the recoverable amount of the wholesale business, representing
an individual cash-generating unit, to which the assets belonged. The
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit has been determined
based on value in use calculations. The discount rate in measuring the
amount of value in use was 12%.

Based on the results of the impairment assessment, the management
estimated that the wholesale business would not generate positive net
cash inflows in the future and hence the recoverable amounts of the
relevant property, plant and equipment belonging to the wholesale
business were insignificant. Accordingly, impairment losses of
HK$466,000 have been recognised on property, plant and equipment for
the year ended 30 April 2023 and included in “administrative expenses”.

et

e BB R EEE)
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—-Z—pO4mMA=+H ﬂ:’ib

16. ¥  BERRE@m

Lz BERREBEB DR RE
HEER  REREHEWT

HEMERE H#R2E6F
RERKE 54
MRERE 3%
T 56

RE—RERER EEEPREMLEES
KREREERERE ARRAESHAR
AEE KB BEBLOWE  BE K&
Bzl E S BEETRET G EEE
HEHBEER(RREEEEMBN—
MEBREELEMN) NI KL S -
HeELEM2ARESBYREF
REEEET FFTEFEAEESEN
AR R A12% o

ERRETELER TEBMETARERE
BEBTCEALERERAFE K
B EER ZEEDE  BE RS
ZH B &I TEKR Bt - REZE
—E_-FMAZ+AHLEE BEHER
Y% - BB &R R (B & 18 466,000 %
TR T1TE R X AR -

E-ERERERAT e —F-=£/—s-—mEsR 2]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R o )

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FFREEE
Machinery Office Total
1 i /N Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FAT
COST R
At 1 May 2022 W-_ZE-__—_F#AA—H - 7,984 7,984
Write-off (note (a)) 1 28 (KT 2% (3)) — (7,624) (7,624)
At 30 April 2023 R-_ZE-_=FMA=+H — 360 360
Additions RE 5,980 = 5,980
Lease modification (note (b)) MEEE] (M b)) (4,458) = (4,458)
Write-off (note () W88 (B a£(a) — (360) (360)
At 30 April 2024 R-ZE-_MEFWMA=+H 1,522 = 1,522
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT iff & & & &
At 1 May 2022 R-—ZT—-—#RAA—AH — 7,984 7,984
Write-off (note (a)) W8 (K 7t (@) = (7,624) (7,624)
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=F#WA=+AH — 360 360
Depreciation e 581 — 581
Write-off (note (a)) W8 (B 5 (a)) — (360) (360)
At 30 April 2024 R-CEBE-_MEMA=+H 581 - 581
CARRYING VALUES BRE B
At 30 April 2024 R-BE-_NMEMA=+8H 941 — 941

At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-Z=FWA=+H — = =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) o |

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

RE B R R ()
For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—-ZT—PUFNA =+ HIMEE

17. FRAEEE @

Hiat -

Right-of-use assets are written off upon termination of the leases at the (@) FHEEEAHEHARAKRILEAER

end of the lease term. i gH o
2024 2023

—E-NEF —EF==

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHT FHT
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHESEEMMAE 265 864
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EEHEABZAEEH Y 643 860
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEENE 17 65
Total cash outflow for leases for the year FRAHEERES R AT 1,079 1,789

For the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group leases various machinery,
office and warehouse for its operations. Lease contracts to which the
Group’s right-of-use assets relate are entered into for fixed terms of 2-3.66
years (2023: 2 years) and without extension and termination options.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the terms
of the leases.

As at 30 April 2024, the Group has no commitment in respect of short-
term leases. The short-term lease expense incurred during the year
amounted to HK$265,000 (2023: HK$864,000). For the year ended 30
April 2023, as the outbreak of the fifth wave of COVID-19 pandemic in
Hong Kong dampened consumption sentiment and had a severe adverse
impact on the sales of retail shops, the Group responded to the changes
in economic environment by adjusting its retail strategy by operating its
retail business with short-term leases.

As at 30 April 2024, the Group does not provide residual value guarantees
in relation to leases arrangements. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor.

As at 30 April 2024, the Group has no leases that are committed but not
yet commenced.

REBE-_ZT_NFNA=+HILFE "
AEFBHESE THW HAZERAER
REZ BAKEFRAREEABRD
FESKHMEIMEEHI A253.66
F(ZEZ=F 1 2F) BERHEERKI
BIE o

ERRAERBERENEHAGIER
&

R-ZB-NFENBE=+H  A&EBE L&
HBIEHAEEEcAE - RAEE B
EL A ERN%2650008 T (==
=44 8640008 L) BE_T-_=F
MA=1+HLEE ARBEBEEER
JHCOVID-19& BB I EB B WEE
EHHEERERNTHEE  BREYK
EIREEY AEEABRAETERE
NEHAEEEHLTEER-

R-Z-_WFEFMA=+H A£EL kX
RUSEAELTHEME 2 RBEBER-
BREHBAAZENHEEETNERE
=N MERHFZRTEMERE ST -

RZZ_WEFMA=+H AEELE
EAEARRARNESR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R o )

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17. EREEE @
Notes: (Continued) Biat - (%)
()  Lease modification ) MEBEET
In April 2024, the Group has entered into supplementary agreements with R-ZT-MFEMAB - REBEBHE AR
the lessor and its related party to purchase the machinery on 1 July 2024 HEB I Y mataE RS _N4F
with consideration amounting to RMB500,000 (equivalent to + A—HURE AR 500,0007T (FHE
HK$541,000), and leased the factory with an one-off payment of 541,000 0) BEME - WIAARE
RMB701,000 (equivalent to HK$758,000) for three years from 1 July 701,000 7t (8 & FA 758,000 7T) By — )
2024. MAREERE B2 _MFE+A—
AERHA=4-
18. DEFERRED TAXATION 18. IEFE B 18
2024 2023
—E_ME —F-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
TERT FAT
Deferred tax assets BEEFIBEEE 237 237
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised TREFWRAEERBTFERRZE
and movements thereon during the current and prior years: BREHEBEE (BB REEZS:
Right-of-use Lease
Provision assets liabilities Total
Bi#E FAEEE HEAE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FA&T FAT FAT FAT

At1May2022and 1 May R-_ZT-_—FHA—BX&

2023 —ET-=FAA—H 237 = = 237
Recognised upon initial RS HEREERAEGRE

recognition of assets and R

liabilities — (1,506) 1,506 —
Credited/(charged) to profit 718255t A/ (F1ER)

or loss 11 1,269 (1,269) 11
Exchange realignment SN 5 B (1) 2 @ (1)
At 30 April 2024 RZZTE-_WWFMNA=+H 237 (235) 235 237
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) o |

18.

19.

e BB R EEE)
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_—Z_p4FMA=+H ﬂ:i&\_/

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$162,888,000 (2023: HK$153,427,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$2,000
(2023: HK$9,000) that will expire in next five years ending in 2028 (2023:
2027). Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences, mainly related to impairment and depreciation of
right-of use assets and property, plant and equipment, and accrued
expenses for audit and other service fees, of approximately
HK$1,226,000 (2023: HK$1,400,000), of which deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of HK$950,000 (2023: HK$950,000) of
these temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to the remaining deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

18. IE & % 18 @)
FAR 45 IR AN 5 B AT PR A O 901 R R

R 2 7 &) A T8 5 18 4 A 162,888,000 7%
TT(Z T = =4 : 153,427,000/ 7T ) - &

PEETERI B &0 MR - I E st B
BEBRREEHEEE BREE2F
ZNFE(ZE =% fjf‘ti)ﬁ?ﬁ

R EF E B H A & 82,0008 T (=
Z =% :9,000/ 7T) BT AKFER RIE
B8 - i EiEn MBS E -

PR BAR - N5 B A H fth AT H0 08 B
MEB(FTZHFTRAEEE - WE B
EREHEZRAERTENAREGEZ
M kEAMRSEE BB 4 &1,226,000
BT (=T = =4 : 1,400,000/ L) + H
FEBERMEETEB0BIT(ZE
ii 950000/%E)EEWLI bﬁﬁilg
BE - AR AT RE IR B FE R B i I LA 3K
i1 R - i R R
THRE R EEARNETRE

INVENTORIES 19. €
2024 2023
—E-NF —EZ=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Merchandise for resale HEE M 196 1,586
Raw materials R 2,569 =
Finished goods RUAK oA 1,473 —
Low value consumables KBS 285 —
Total 4@t 4,523 1,586

As at 30 April 2024, the gross carrying amount of inventories was
HK$13,789,000 (2023: HK$11,837,000) and allowance for write-down
of inventories was HK$9,266,000 (2023: HK$10,251,000).

E-BRZRERQA  —ZF=

%_j_mimﬂ +H FEZEH
# {8 513,789,000/ ;T (—Z T — = 4 :
11,837,000/ 7t ) « M Mk 17 E & H A
9,266,000/ 7T (— & — = 4 : 10,251,000
W) °

=g, /=%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS MEREMNRIE
2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAET
Trade receivables fEURE 5 5k1A 545 =

Other receivables H b fE YL FR 8

— Rental and utilities deposits — ek AAEEES 120 374
— Others —H i 82 131
Prepayments (note) TEAS RIE (B 2%) 100,215 72,980
Total @t 100,962 73,485

Note: Prepayments as at 30 April 2024 mainly include prepayments to suppliers
for procurement of fertilisers raw materials, fertilisers and other related
products in China amounting to approximately HK$100,043,000. The
amounts prepaid to suppliers will be derecognised when the products are
directly delivered to customers by the suppliers. 87% (2023: 91%) of the
amounts prepaid to suppliers were paid to the related parties of the
Group as disclosed in note 32(i). The management considered that the
credit risk in respect of the prepayments as at 30 April 2024 is low based
on the records of product deliveries from the suppliers to customers and
the deliveries made subsequent to 30 April 2024.
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #ZE —Z — P4 A= +Eﬁ%£\-_—__‘

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

As at 30 April 2024, the trade receivables mainly comprised receivables
from trading customers in wholesale segment. There were no specific
credit terms granted to wholesale customers. The Group’s credit terms
granted to wholesale customers generally ranged from 60 to 90 days
from the invoice date.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables presented based
on the invoice dates.

20. EWWE Z X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

s A e )

H fib FE UK
HERTE 'fT/TAIE(zﬁ)

2

R-Z_WNFMA=1TH BREZK
RIEERFRARESMEZELNE
WHIE - SEEA A TP RO EFSE
%E% AEERTHEEFPNEREY
—RBEZAHEFNFE0E0A

BEREZEAH2I 2EEEZFAKREKD
WESET

2024 2023

—E-mEF T =%

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT FAT

Within 30 days 308K 316 —
31 to 60 days 31260H = —
61 to 90 days 61£290H 109 —
Over 90 days @O0 H 120 —
Total Bt 545 -

As at 30 April 2024, trade receivables that were past due but not
impaired amounted to HK$120,000 (2023: HK$nil). Trade receivables
in connection with these customers are with good credit quality and no
past due history. In addition, the management of the Group considers
these assets are short-term in nature and the probability of default is
negligible. In this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. The management of the Group considered
the effect of impairment on trade receivables is immaterial, no provision
was made in this regard.

E-BERERERAT e —T==F =%

R-ZZE-_WFEHNA=+H BE@afEX
BB 8 FE U E 5 5 IE /120,000 T (=
To=F FTE) HZEREFAEBD
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EEHEE I AREBEEERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_-Z M A=+HI|LFE

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1. RERREEEY
Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates ranging from FITEBIEN F0.001%E0.875% (=&
0.001% to 0.875% (2023: ranging from 0.001% to 0.35%) per annum. —=F: N F0.001%E0.35%) 2 BT
BEF KB -
2024 2023
—E-mmF —_——
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FAT
Bank balances RITH B 65,814 126,168
Cash B4 23 22
Bank balances and cash WITEBRES 65,837 126,190
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. EFRHEHMENKIE
2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FAT
Trade payables (note) e B 5 5RIB (M1 i) 15,487 32,272
Other accruals and payables H b fEEHE R K E N ROE 5,279 4,825
Contract liabilities aHaE 89,774 100,639
Total W=t 110,540 137,736
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_—Z_p4FMA=+H ﬂ:’%b

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Contract liabilities represented short-term advances received from
customers to arrange for the compound fertilisers, fertilisers and other
related products to the customers, which amounted to HK$89,774,000
(2023: HK$100,639,000) as at 30 April 2024. The amount of advances
is negotiated on a case by case basis with the customers. During the
year ended 30 April 2024, there was a decrease in contract liabilities of
HK$92,936,000 (2023: HK$67,189,000) which was included in the
contract liabilities as at 30 April 2023 as a result of completion of the
services on arranging the compound fertilisers, fertilisers and other
related products to the customers. For the contract liabilities as at 30
April 2024 and 2023, the entire balances will be derecognised within
twelve months from 30 April 2024 and 2023 when the products are
delivered to the customers. As at 30 April 2022, the Group had
contract liabilities amounting to approximately HK$71,829,000.

Note: The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented based on
the invoice dates.

s A e )

2. B5REMENRE@®

AHEEEREFKRI S RESE B
BREMEEERTHENEHENS  »
—Z-MF M A =+ H AE89,774,000%
7t (=% =~ =% : 100,639,000/ Jt ) » ¥
NeBEEENBLAEATFHE BEZ
T _MENAZTAHLEEE  BRTK
ABRFPLZHEEARE B RHEMEREE
BHRGE R—TE-_=FmA=+Hz
AERHEENE D EER 92936000
BIL(ZF = = F : 67,189,000/ 7T ) °
MR E_WNFER_ZT_=ZFMWA=+
AMEHNEEmMS FERRXNTERP
% 2EHBRBEER T _NEFRER=_Z=
—FMA=THR @A NK I
R-RZEBE-_—_FNA=+H A%EHE
BAHAE EHT71,829,0008 T °

Kz REZAH2INZENE S HEREK
DHEINET -

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FExT FHEIT

Within 30 days 30HA 1,518 14,679
31 to 60 days 31E60H 28 4,912
Over 60 days #BiE60H 13,941 12,681
Total 1 Et 15,487 32,272
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B A% R MY AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period:

23. HEEE

TRITRBEMRNAEEHEERRE
Z R A DB BBER -

Present value Present value

Minimum Minimum of minimum of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
2024 2023 2024 2023
BEEE HEMEE
BREAENR HEBEENK NEBEE NRIRE
ZEDNFE T =F ZBDNFE _—T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT FTHET FHET
Within 1 year —F R 950 144 941 135
After 1 year but within 2 years — £ LA |- 18 7N #8338 /i € - = - =
After 2 years but within MENEENBRBASF
5 years - — - —
Total minimum lease REEENKRAE
payments 950 144 941 i35
Total future interest expenses > 2k 7| & f 7 4858 (9) ©)
Present value of lease liabilities 78 & & &R (& 941 135
Amount due within 1 year R—FRIBAzEHE (941) (139)

R—FRIHPZER

Amount due after 1 year

The average effective borrowing rate of the Group for the year ended
30 April 2024 was 5.39% (2023: 3.74%).

24. AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING

COMPANY

Amount due to ultimate holding company is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25.

26.

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE_—Z_p4FMA=+H ﬂ:’%b

s A e )

SHARE CAPITAL 25. i Z
Number of
shares Share capital
il = =] [N
‘000 HK$’000
T FAET
Ordinary shares of par value HK$0.01 each FREECI BT B
Authorised EE
At 1 May 2022, 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2024 AT __FHHA—H -
“E-=FNWA=1+HRK
ZE-MEMNA=+H 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTEHE
At 1 May 2022, 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2024 HRZZE-__FHHA—H -
—EZ=FHWUA=+AHK
“ET-NNFWNMA/=+H 800,000 8,000

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs or up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month to the Scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The qualifying employees in the PRC of the Group are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$ 1,024,000 (2023:
HK$840,000) represent contributions payable to these schemes by the
Group in respect of the current accounting period. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years at 30 April 2024 and 30 April 2023.

26. RIKE X 5 &l

E #8 R ET

AEERBEMAARERERRIEH
HERABEE B ZEERBERAE
HzEeRKF BAEEZEESRRE
B-AGKEEAZMERE THM25%%K
& %1,500/8 LA &R MiE 8 Ih{F
i A8 R g R o

AEERTEZAERERHZSNT A
TEBMELRIEZBEREAKEE -
AEBEARE TH KA Z 5 E LB
A 3R 0K & 51 &) 43R - AT 13 F A 75 5K
He At ANEEEZ RS EEHEZ
BERE/EEZIHRK -

EREER R E R B A1,024,000
BT (T - =% :840,00087T) HA
AEERASHREERZ S
ZEHR - RZZTE_MEFEMNA=F+HEZ
T _ZFNWA=Z+H  TEIWRZHEHRK
Al AEIRR R R FE 2 AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
w5 B B AR M ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

28

29

TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes

Pursuant to the board resolution passed on 4 January 2018, the Board
resolved to grant 80,000,000 share options (the “Share Option Plan”)
in total to employees and business associates of the Company (the
“Grantees”), subject to acceptance of the Grantees, to subscribe for a
total of 80,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of
the Company. The Share Option Plan was approved by the
Shareholders by way of poll at the Extraordinary General Meeting held
on 25 January 2018.

The share options granted under the Share Option Plan were not
accepted by the Grantees. As a result, no share options were
recognised as granted and outstanding as at 30 April 2024 and 2023.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 April 2024, the Group had future capital commitments of
HK$541,000 but not recognised in the financial statements for the
purchase of property, plant and equipment. As at 30 April 2023, the
Group did not have any material capital commitments.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to
owners of the Company through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
amount due to ultimate holding company and lease liabilities, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from time to
time. As a part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with the share capital and
bank loan. Based on recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the issue of new shares, new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (BONTINUED) o !
e KR BT#%I{%L’
For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZ—Z P4 A=+H 3

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 29. X [E b E E @

The net debt-to-adjusted equity ratio at 30 April 2024 and 2023 was as RIEBE_MER_T_=FMA=+H
follows: WESFREELCHABRAN L EWT
2024 2023
—EC-ME —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Total debts BB R 47,036 46,195
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BB eRBEEEED 65,837 126,190
Net cash REFE (18,801) (79,995)
Total capital BARBE 15,371 16,853
Net debt-to-adjusted equity ratio B FREELABRR AL X N/A FEHA N/A 3 A
30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30, @ IT A
30a. Categories of financial instruments 30a. @ T B ZER
2024 2023
—E_NEF —ET-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BBERANERE s eREE 66,584 126,695
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-_=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Financial liabilities ctWMas
At amortised cost T8 §5 R AN I BR 66,861 83,157
Lease liabilities HEAE 941 135
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. £t T & @)

30b. Financial risk management objectives and 0b. EREKMEEEER

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, amount due to ultimate holding company and lease
liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions in USD, which is the
currency other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities. The functional currency of these group entities is
Renminbi and certain of their trade and other payables are
denominated in USD (2023: nil). The Group manages its foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movements of the foreign
currency rates. The directors conduct periodical review of foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary liabilities at the respective reporting dates
are as follows:

2§

AEEZIEESRTABEES
REMEKRZIE RehBEEE
Y-BHREMENKEA BN&R
RERARNRBAREERE - Z
EeMITAZFBRENEBN
do-REeRTAZEBERRERE
M5 E R (%R R A ERER) -
EERBERBDES AR - G
BHERBRIBEEN T - B8
EEEREEZFRR LR N
B 30 B RO R BUE B RO 5

EWER
AEENXTETETRS XL
RESBEERBNEEEUINE
B-ZEEEERBNIEEERA
R EETE S REMEMNFR
NETFHE(ZT_=F &) - K
SEERETIERIBEXS
EIRHSNE R o T = E B S
BRER YERATERZELHH
BERSMNER K o

AEBEUIINEFENERREEN
EHREARNREENT

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Trade and other payables denominated in USD LAE T E R B 5 & H fth &
MIE 139 —
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —P4Fm A=+ Elﬂ:b

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €@ T B @)

30b. Financial risk management objectives and 0b. AR EEEER

policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2023: nil) increase in the functional currency of the relevant
group entities, Renminbi, relative to respective foreign currency,
USD. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in the
foreign currency rates. If the functional currency of the relevant
group entities strengthen/weaken 5% against respective foreign
currency, the Group’s post tax profit for the year would be
increased/decreased by approximately HK$5,000 (2023: nil).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position best represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has delegated a
team responsible for the determination of credit limits and credit
approvals.

The Group has concentration to credit risk as its current assets
as at 30 April 2024 includes prepayments of approximately
HK$87,188,000 (2023: HK$66,643,000) paid to two (2023: two)
major suppliers of the Group as disclosed in note 20 and note
32(). These prepayments are not subject to ECL assessment as
they are not financial assets or contract assets. The management
considered the credit risk in respect of the prepayments as at 30
April 2024 is low.

BUSR ()

B ¥ E b E

BRE D

AT 8RR 5 4T 2 K £ [ % AR
BEEEBMEEE AREE

HEEINEZET EASR(ZT =
—SF D )NERRE - MEE DN
EREUIINESENERIER I
BONEEEKE%(Z T Z=F : 5%)
MEBNMESHRABRELBREA-
WHEEEEEN S XA
RN THE, B2 E5% 0 Bl A& E
ANF E R B 105 TS5 0,8 A 49
50008 T (ZE =4 : ) -

2 & R ke KO E TG
?%éﬂﬂr*ﬂkﬁi%’iﬂﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁw
CHMEEZEREELASBE RN
EERB MXBHTREBTE
T EHERKREESANEE AR
HEK -

BEEREEERR AKECDZ
EJE XEGEEEEEERER
gt

40 Y 520 K B 5E32() AT #E B - AN
SEEAEEESEYTRR DEHE
RZZE-_WFEFMA=+HZRS
EEAERNAEEME(ZT ==
F MB)TEHERIINNEN
X IE #787,188,00078 T (= & —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. €/t T B @)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and 0b. EREKMEEEER

policies (Continued) BUER ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) = 8 & b2 &R 3 1 @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EoREBREERIEEREDE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TEREBAEENEERSE @ ¥R
exposure to credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, based on AEBGREEZEEEEZNTE
the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past due SEERR  BREEBAKAKSE
information unless other information is available without undue NEAESEMERI TREE
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 30 April. L@BBEREROA=+TRHZF

ROBBRIBERER-

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial 2L EABEETERHEEER
assets which are subject to ECL assessment. TSR EEMNRTMAE -
As at 30 April 2024 R-E-_NEMA=+H
12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
1218 B
A
FEEE EHEHEEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

F—HR F-BR F=KER 1L & #at
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
THET THET THET TET TR

Trade receivables (note (a)) EWE 5 K&
(Kt &t (a) - - - 545 545
Financial assets included in 5+ A H b f& U 218
other receivables (note (b)) & REE

(Kt &t b))
— Normal — 5% 202 - - - 202
— Doubtful — A & - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents R4 RIS ZEY
(note (c)) (Kt ax(c) 65,837 - - - 65,837

66,039 - - 545 66,584
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZ—Z P4 A=+H 3

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. @ I A @)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and 0b. HEEAMEEBEER
policies (Continued) R @)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) BN R E AT )
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BEaEERERDERDEE)
As at 30 April 2023 RZE-=FWA=+H
12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
1218 A
TEHA
EEBE 2HBEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
F—MEER FoMEE FZREE 1% 45t

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TET THET TRT TET

Trade receivables (note (a)) [EWE 5 1A
(Kt &t (a) = — - - -
Financial assets included in 5+ A £ fib & Ui 7% 18
other receivables (note (b)) K& EEE

(Bt 7 (b))
— Normal —E% 505 = = — 505
— Doubtful — Al & = - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents IR&RIREZEY
(note (c)) (HtiE(c)) 126,190 — - — 126,190
126,695 — — — 126,695

Notes: Bt et -

(@  As at 30 April 2024, trade receivables primarily consist of @ RZTEZEFEOA=+H'EK
wholesales of watches in Hong Kong. The directors monitor their BEORBFEAENREEHZEH
balances on an ongoing basis. In addition, the Group performs RFTBRIE E S HE
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances Merolboh ZEBRE S &
individually. Trade receivables in connection with these customers HREAEHEESEBERXETE
are with good credit quality and no past due history. In addition, BB BTG EEZRERE 2
the management of the Group considers these assets are short- WESRBAEEEEZRIFRIT
term in nature and the probability of default is negligible. In this MIBTBANES o o NEH
regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is EEBRAAZSEEBEBHME
significantly reduced. RNER O e Y R

hins EFRAEASENEE
AN D A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

30b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(o) The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

30. @ T A
0b. I EREEBEER

R @)
= & B ba RO EFE G @)

B 50 R B I 5 K 0 P B J ()
HiiE - (&)

b AEEWAIMEEERRDRFGE
BEATER

Other receivables

REBEETR B H {th & WK 0E
Normal The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have  12-month ECL
any past-due amounts
E® R HHEFHELNRERIFE - B3 & F o8 BRI 508 128 R EBREEEE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

initial recognition through information developed internally or

external resources

A &E BBABRNLERRBENEABRTEEARE VS 2HRHBEESE - EEFERE

B LA ZRA 1R 38 A

(c) The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because cash and cash
equivalents are placed with reputable banks with external credit
rating of at least “A” assigned by an international credit-rating
agency or state owned.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (GONTINUED)

s A e )

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZ—Z P4 A=+H 3

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

30b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted

30. @ T A

b. EREMEEEER
BUR @)

ABE € E R @
TEHIFERESELSRE -
Flererssfix BRMES

amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the

reporting period.

RS R 2 FUE SRS -

More than  More than  More than
Less than 3 months to 1yearto 2yearsto Undiscounted Carrying
Financial liabilities SRERE Ondemand 3 months 1 year 2 years 5years cash flows Amount
3EAML 150 E 2N E AER
RER SReEA E3E3 z2f E5F ReRE REE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR FET TR TR FTET TR FET
As at 30 April 2024 R-E-MmfE
A=tH
Trade and other payables & 5 e f+
(excluding contract HBE(TREAN
liabilities) af - 20,766 - - - 20,766 20,766
Amount due to ultimate R RARER AR
holding company FE 46,095 - - - - 46,095 46,095
Lease liabilities HEEE - 950 - - - 950 941
46,095 21,716 - - - 67,811 67,802
As at 30 April 2023 RZBZZ%
A=+H
Trade and other payables & 5 & H ft e f+
(excluding contract FETBEAND
liabilities) &) - 37,097 - - - 37,007 37,097
Amount due to ultimate B REER AR
holding company g 46,060 — — — — 46,060 46,060
Lease liabilities HEBE - 52 2 - - 144 135
46,060 37,149 92 - - 83,301 83,292

E-EBERERAR c ZT=F =%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
iR e PSRRI R ()

For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —UFEMA=+HILFE

31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES M. RETHEENEGHER

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Amount due

TREINAEERMEZHELCBEE
BB BERESNFERCEH -ME
RHELAZABAEAKREGRARER
EXRTFERASAERIBERIRKES
MEBRIERBEIHELEZRER
BZEE

to ultimate
holding Lease
company liabilities Bank loan Total
BA&E
BERADE
MIE HEaE RITEXR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT A& T AT FA&T
At 1 May 2023 R —=
A H—H 46,060 135 — 46,195
Financing cash flows MEBRESRE
Proceeds Ffr 18 318 500 — — 500
Repayments B (465) (643) — (1,108)
Interests paid [EEEAESA = (a71) = (a1
Non-cash changes: JEIR o & E
Increase in lease liabilities RN EHEE
from entering into new B EE N
leases — 5,980 = 5,980
Lease modification HEEET (4,531) (4,531)
Finance costs b & B AR — 171 = 171
At 30 April 2024 N-ZE-_@mE
A=+8 46,095 941 - 47,036
At 1 May 2022 R-ZETE—-Z
HH—H 35,690 995 4,000 40,685
Financing cash flows MEREME
Proceeds Fri8 k1A 10,370 — — 10,370
Repayments B — (860) (4,000) (4,860)
Interests paid B F 8 = (65) (31) (96)
Non-cash changes: IR EE :
Finance costs B & B AR — 65 31 96
At 30 April 2023 RZZE-_=F
MmA=+H 46,060 135 — 46,195
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z —P4Fm A=+ Elﬂ:b

B 75 ¥R AR A ()

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS NR.EBBHAIRS
() In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere () BRZEEAHBEREEMIES
in these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the WEAOXTHEESRIN REAFE
Group entered into the following transactions with related parties: B AEBEMEBEBGETTUT
R5:
2024 2023
—E-_ME —_ET-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FH&T
Commission income (note (a)) B WA (K it@) 1,029 8,637
Commission income (note (b)) & WA (K75 b) 28,668 24,447
Manufacture overhead paid (note (b)) B REST W (HEb) 675 -
Purchase of auxiliary materials (note (b)) R & K (4757 (b)) 1,181 =
Purchase of raw materials (note (b)) BB R MR (BT T b)) 16,284 —
Advances from ultimate holding company — # & ?ZTW ENCIE=E 500 10,370
Repayments to ultimate holding company  [A] £ 42 4% i% A &) & X 465 -
The following balances were outstanding at the end of the TH &R HRE R ARERE -
reporting period:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T F&T
Prepayment to a related party (note (a)) M R B 5 S TR 3B (B it (@) - 31,391
Trade payables to a related party (note (a)) f& <t BB 75 0 B 5 538 (K1 57 (a)) - (18,277)
Prepayments to related parties (note (b)) A BB 75 2 1~ 69 78 (~F 38 (B 2% (b)) 87,188 35,326
Trade payables to a related party (note (b)) & 1 8 Bt 75 &) f’f 5 538 (Mt b)) = 4,417)
Amount due to ultimate holding company & 1~ F 4% 4% i A &) FX 18 (46,095) (46,060)
Right-of-use assets purchased from M) BEEE 7 B8 A 1% AEEE
a related party 941 =
Lease liabilities due to a related party BB INEEAE (941) -
Amount due to ultimate holding company is unsecured, non- ERERERAGIRIERBEER -
interest bearing and repayable on demand. Prepayments and TiF B kiR %‘e ZJ? B rl (fE

payables from/(to) other related parties were trade nature
balances, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The carrying amounts of the amounts due from/(to) related
parties approximated to their fair values and are denominated in
Renminbi (2023: Renminbi) except for amount due to ultimate
holding company which is denominated in HK$(2023: HK$).

During the period, the Group entered into a lease agreement with
a related party. As at 30 April 2024, the right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities recognised were approximately
HK$941,000.

E-BRZRERQA  —ZF=

) E At BB 75 69 TR SRR I R A
FBERBESHLE 2t BE
R TEBRRBERER - Y
(FEH)F‘ﬁ 7 SRR BR T E
RFERERAARBE(ZF ==
F:AR®K)FE Tﬁfgﬁﬂﬁiﬂ
PRABRERETL(ZE =
BIL)EHE -

BN ANEEHEEE ST EE R
FoR-_E-_MWMEWA=1+H B
RNERAEEELEREEESR
E49/5941,000% 7T °

=g, /=%

—mEs® 14]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HZE—Z—PUFNA=+HILFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(i)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the
Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:
(Continued)

Notes:

@

The related party is an entity of which the controlling shareholder is
a cousin of the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder. The
Group had entered into arrangements for the purchases of
fertilisers such as urea and compound fertilisers from the related
party to be sold to independent third-party customers. Such
purchases from the related party for the year amounted to
approximately HK$47,050,000 (2023: HK$198,795,000). As the
Group is considered to be acting as an agent in respect of these
purchase and sale transactions, the Group recognised commission
income of HK$1,029,000(2023: HK$8,637,000) for acting as an
agent in these sales and purchases of fertilisers and other related
products.

The Group had entered into arrangements for the purchases of
fertilisers such as urea and compound fertilisers from related
parties (the “Related Parties”), which were controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company before 15
February 2023 and significantly influenced by the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company since 15 February 2023,
to be sold to independent third-party customers. Such purchases
from the related parties for the year amounted to approximately
HK$582,340,000 (2023: HK$498,636,000). As the Group is
considered to be acting as an agent in respect of these purchase
and sale transactions, the Group recognised commission income
of HK$28,668,000 (2023: HK$24,447,000) for acting as an agent
in these sales and purchases of fertilisers and other related
products. In relation to the Company’s announcements dated 9
February 2024 and 17 April 2024, judgements were entered
against one of the Related Parties and its holding company. They
were severally liable for judgment debts in the amounts of
approximately RMB68 million and RMB239 million respectively.

The Group purchased raw materials, auxiliary materials, and
manufacture overhead from the Related Parties for manufacture
and sales of compound fertilisers.
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 #HE_-ZT—

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) 32. BB 5 X 5 (&)

(ii)

Compensation of key management (i) EEEE AE 5N
personnel
The remuneration of members of key management of the Group, REEBTEEEBAB(BEARAQT
comprising the directors of the Company, during the year was as EE)RAFERNNFTFMMOT :
follows:
2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Fees, salaries, bonus, other allowances and ~ ZEf - $ 4 - fE4L - H it )£ 8k
benefits in kind REWF &= 6,655 9,675
Retirement benefit costs iR PR A8 ) B AR 42 52
Total 1=t 6,697 9,727
The remuneration of directors is determined by the remuneration EENTFHN I BETHEE@RE

committee having regard to the performance of individuals and HEAAXRBELETSBHET -

market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONZINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL B.AEARTATEHRBATN
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY H15
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the REHARARAATTIEWNB AR ZHE
reporting periods are set out below. HH T o
Particulars of
issued share
Place of capital/
incorporation/ registered Principal activities and
Name establishment capital Equity interest held place of operation
ERRE/ \
A% BMAL/ KIS AMER2F#E FiRE TEXBREEHY
2024 2023
ZBoME TR
Directly held EiEBE
Tic Tac International Company Limited ' British Virgin Islands (‘BVI’) US$2 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
BEERERAR RERAHES ((RERLEE)) 2ETT REBREERR
POI Limited” BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
EERAEE E REAREZR
Indirectly held B#ERE
City Great Limited ' Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Wholesale of watches in Hong Kong
WEERRR B 1B REBR S REN
Jenus Top International Limited ' Hong Kong HK$300,000 100% 100% Provision of management services
in Hong Kong
HEEBEARAR' B 300,000/ 7T REBREEERS
Sun Step Asia Limited ' Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100% Wholesale of watches in Hong Kong
BETHAERAR' ) 500,0007% 7 REBR S REN
Tic Tac Time Company Limited ' Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100% Wholesale of watches in Hong Kong
BEBRARAR B 3,000,000/ 7T REBKSHEI T
Treasure Ascent International Limited '~ Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100% Provision of management services
in Hong Kong
EaBRERAH ) 500,0007% 70 REBRBERRYE
Prosper One Industrial Investment BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
Limited " EERUHEE Ep REBREER
Prosper One Commerce Investment BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
Limited " EERULHES D REERE R
Prosper One Eco-Technology Limited'  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
E-RRMRERAF B 10,0007 1 REAREZR
Prosper One Fertilizer Limited ' Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
E-EEERRA ) 1T RERREERR
Prosper One Resources Commerce Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
Limited’
E-ARESBRAA B 1T REBREZR
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 3B. AQNTNFTEMHE QAT
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (cContinued) EX R0 )

Particulars of
issued share
Place of capital/
incorporation/ registered Principal activities and
Name establishment capital Equity interest held place of operation
ERTRE/ .
A% BMAL/ KIS HAMER2F#E FshRE TEERREELY
2024 2023
“E-ME -“2-=F
Indirectly held (Continued) BiEEE (E)
Prosper One Well Rich Commerce Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Inactive
Limited’
E-HEMESERAA B 18T Ema%
LRE—RRRMBERAR 2 PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Provision of consulting services
HE 50,000,0007% 7T REFARE
LEE—PERRERAR? PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Trading of fertiisers and other
related products in PRC,
manufacture and sales of
compound fertilisers in PRC
? 50,000,000 7C REEEELH R A AAE
m- ARRPERERHEER
&
LRE—LIRHBRAR? PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Trading of fertilisers and other
related products in PRC
HE 50,000,0007% 7T RABEEEREHREMERER
LEE—BERESERAR? PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Trading of fertiisers and other
related products in PRC
HE 50,000,0007% 7T REEEERRRAMERER
U Incorporated as a limited liability company under local jurisdiction L BESHERIMKZAFR AR
8 Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law 2 BETBZEEIMAIINEBELZE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the RATEETRE  ERIRZARB M
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results BAAIFEBEEEARAEFB  XEREENR
or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other BE AR EERE  FHH MWK B
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, NAIZHEBEBEAFBERNAILE " T
result in particulars of excessive length. i o
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as at 30 MENBEATIR_ZT_NFR_T_=
April 2024 and 2023 or at any time during both years. FU A=+ B AEFEE AT A R

BEMAEEZEBES
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For the year ended 30 April 2024 HZE—Z_FMNA=+HIIFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

4. XATHBMRRRRFEE

ARBRBERR 2B BRARKEH

the end of the reporting periods includes: BIE
2024 2023
—E-NF — ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interest in subsidiaries NG £ 21 5,391
Current assets MBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & W Bt B A B 5K IR 1,328 3,906
Other receivables and prepayments H fth JiE U SR IB & B 3R 48 33
Cash and cash equivalents BehBReEEY 4,061 169
5,437 4,108
Total assets BEE 5,458 9,499
Capital and reserves BEA R
Share capital [N 8,000 8,000
Reserves a1 (60,631) (47,468)
Total deficit B AL 4agE (52,631) (39,468)
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade payables I E 5 IE 4,541 -
Accruals and other payables FEETE R R E A BN 49,530 48,967
Contract liabilities AHAEE 4,018 —
Total liabilities BEAE 58,089 48,967
Total equity and liabilities BERRAE 5,458 9,499
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4. AR FHMBMRRAEK K

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY #E @
(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves KATZHEES
Share Capita Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BB EE EXx#E RZitEE @t
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FH&T FAT
Balance at 1 May 2022 P =
FA—BZ&% 118,368 66,887 (214,718) (29,463)
Total comprehensive ZEBAXAE
expense
Loss for the year FREE — — (18,005) (18,005)
Balance at 30 April 2023 RZE_=%F
and 1 May 2023 MA=+HK
—E=F
AR —HZ&% 118,368 66,387 (232,723) (47,468)
Total comprehensive *EBEXEE
expense
Loss for the year FAREE = = (13,163) (13,163)
Balance at 30 April 2024 RZZT_MF
MA=+Hz#&& 118,368 66,887 (245,886) (60,631)

E-ERZRERAT s —B-=F /"FT-MEEH |47



O FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFBEHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group forthe AEBEBER AT R FENEEUNREER
&

last five financial years is set out below: B2 ERINAT -
RESULTS E 4
Year ended 30 April
BENA=tHLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

“T-TF —T--F ZFT--F —T-=F ZBEZQNE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEx TEx SR TER

(Restated)
(€327
Continuing operations BELCEER
Revenue = i 94,193 83,372 75,269 35,563 71,854
Cost of sales BERA (49,816) (39,309) (34,647) (904) (30,394)
Gross profit E7 44,377 44,069 40,622 34,659 41,460
Other gains and losses, net HElzkEEFE 3,764 6,091 5413 477 2,370
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEAK (74,702) (26,795) (29,006) (11,264) (21,100)
Administrative expenses THHEY (27,292) (19,792 (18,801) (15,508) (18,015)
Operating (loss)/profit LE (BB EH (53,853) 3,573 1,772 8,369 4,715
Finance costs BEKAK (2,326) (1,229) (525) (15) (17)
(Loss)/profit before tax REBELEEBRMN
from continuing operations BE A (B18),/ A (56,179) 2,344 (2,297) 8,354 4,544
Income tax expense FriEfEx (2,826) (3,113) (4,149) (5,153) (3,263)
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing RERELEEBOER
operations (B1’)/ %7 (59,005) (769) (6,446) 3,201 1,281
Discontinued operation BRIEER
Loss for the year from discontinued operation % & 2 4 [F ¥ M E &
B = - - (6,858) =
(Loss)/profit for the year En(ER),aH (59,005) (769) (6,446) (2,657) 1,281
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Hi2m(FX),/ Wi (781) 2,465 (706) (2,062) (2,763)
Total comprehensive (expense)fincome FR2[H (Bx)/ WHAE
for the year (59,786) 1,696 (7,152) (4,719) (1,482)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FR2HE(BX) L
for the year attributable to: BER:
Owners of the Company N/NGIE TN (59,786) 1,696 (7,152) (4,719) (1,482)
Non-controlling interests FEm R RERS = - _ _ _
(59,786) 1,696 (7,152) (4,719 (1,482)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
For the year ended 30 April
BEMA=1+ALEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—Z-%g —FT-—4 24 —Z--f ZEBEINF
HGP000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
TET TAET TET TAT TERT
Total assets BEE 190,908 185,802 163,860 201,597 173,090
Total liabilities A=V (163,880) (157,078) (142,288) (184,744) (157,719)
Total equity MR 27,028 28,724 21,572 16,853 15,371
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